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Part I

APACEE PASS

From 1862 until 1894 Fort Bowle served as a key outpost 1n the U. S.
Army s grueling campalgns against the Chiricahua Apache Indtan. As the
pase of operations from which Gen, George Crook and, later, Gen. ¥elson
A. Miles launched the expelfiticns that broughf about The final surrender
of the notorious Geronlmo, Fort Bowile attained its greatest historleel
significance, Even before the Geronimo war, however, 1t had played a
leading role in advancing the southwestern frontier. As guardisn of Apacthe
Pass, it had performed signal service in protecting milltary and civilian
traffic using this hilstorle passageway through the Chiricahua Mounteins.
For years, Apache Pass had been a cemetery filled with rude monuments
to ploneer courage and Apache savagery. After the soldlers came Lo bulld
Port Bowle, travelers crossing the mountains enjoyed 4 securivy that con=-
trasted stavkiy with the apprehensicn that gripped those who had preceded
them,

Tt 18 these storles--the conquest of the Apaches end the mliitary
protection of overland travel--that the ruins of Fort Bowle today vividly
recail. Bub they also recall ancother story--the eventful story of Apache
Pass before the soldlers arrived. The very decision to bulld a fort In
Apache Pass is an indication of the significance the pags had already
acquired, Along 1ts rocky siopes lay one of the faw feasible roubes
through the Southwest to California, Although the grades was steep and

tortuous; and Aﬁaches usually lurked on the heights, this route had




advantages not found elsewhere, MNot only did Apache Pass admit a trall
that was the shortest reute from the Ric Grande to Tueson, but it afforded
water in a country that boasted few water holes.

The Apache Pass Springs figure prominently in the accounts of nearly
a1l of the early travelers through the pass, The springs seem also to
have made the pass & favcrite rendezvous of Apaches before the appearance
of the white man. L%. Johm €. Parke, crossing the Chiricghua Mountains in
1854, noted the large number of well-defined Indian trails radiating from

the snrings.l

The Chiricahua Mountains had been the domain of the Chiricahua Apaches
since Spanilzh colonlal déys, and it scems reasonable to infer That %the
Spaniards were net long in familiarizing themselves with Apache Pass and
1ts springs. The Spenish frontier, moving north from Chihuahuz and Sonora
in the late seventeenth centrnry, prouptly collided with the Apaches, moving
south at the seme time. BReglmning in 1693, Spanizh officlals scon found
it advisable to dispateh punitvive expediticns against the Apaches in the
Chirlcahua Mountains. Some of fhese columns, ab one time or ancther,
probably found themselves 1n Apache Pass and, perhaps, even campned at
Apache Springs. Opeculative as thils may be, 1t 15 certain tha% by 1780
the Spanish kmew of Apache FPass. They caliled it Puerto del Dadoe, 2 term

whose meening is somewhat obscure., 1In that year, Capt. Don Joseph Antonio

1. Parke's report, August 22, 1854, in Pacific Railrocad Surveys.
1"01. II, p. 10¢




de Vildozola, campeigning against "the enemies of the frontiers, " bivou-
aeked on the upper San Pedro River. On Nevember 35, he recorded 1n his

journal that he had

detached Lieutenant Don Pablo Romero with an

ensicn and £1fty men . . . to examline la Ti ina Ja
Cnlorada, and 1ts hills, and to go af night to

La (znada de San Borja, at the rise of the RBlerra

e Chirieszul /Chirleahua Monriaing/, along the

western pavt and return through Puerto del Dado

as far 25 S3n Simon. On his foray he wes fo
shrive a3 he held fit to acguit his obligation,
fcr the punisiment cof our enemy &cod fhe glery

of the army of our Cathollc king . o »

Lt. Romero jolned his capiain four days later at the avpointed place.
He had enccuntered no Indians, but had found a cache of Apache supnplies
and eguipment, which his men appropriated.2 Vildosclals reference to
Apache Pass--Puerto del Dado--with no other 1derntification or elabora-
tion, suggests the conclusion that the pass was nct an unkncwn geo-
graphic feature beiore 1780. As the Spanlsh frontler receded, however,

Apache Paas, and indeed the whole of the Chiriezhua Kountain range, seems
B

to have been left to the undlsiurbed enfoyment of the Apaches for half a

century.

Tae Gadsden Purchase

Indians and Spanlards had long known of Apache Pass when the Mexiean
War broke out. DBut Americans appear to have had no knowledge of it, and

almost no knowledge of the country scuth of the Gila River. Missourl

2. Alfred B, Thomas,ed., Forgotﬁggﬂgrontiers
{Norman, 1932}, pp. 200-209,




traders arriving in New Mexlco over the Santa Fe Trail had penctrated
the lower Rie Grande counbry and iraded with settlements in Chihuzhua,
but they had no reason to explore the unknown territory west of the
river. American fur irappers Journeyed down the Glla in 1826, and in
subsequent years an occaslonal trapper may have found his way through
bpache Pass., Bub %he mcuntain men were not noled for bequeanthing records
of travel to future historians, It remained for the Mexican Wur to ac-
guaint Americans with the country south of the Gila,

The wap and its aftermath ciothed this region with vast signifi.-
cance. By the Treaty of Guadelupe Hidalgo, which ended the conflied,
the Unibed Stckes acquirzd New Mexico and California, The Oregon boun-
ary dispute had been setiled in 1846, The Pacific Coast became & unity,
but also an island of Americans scparated from thelr eastern brethren by
a great expanse of almost uninhabited mountain, prairie, and desert, Dis-
covery of gold in California in 184C not only invited a wave of mlgration
over this wildopress avea, bub also made imperative a transportation and
communication 1ink between east and west. The gold-fever coincided with
the ratlroad fever, Stimulated by a policy of granting public lands to
the states in order bo encourage rallroad construction, a network of rails
spread from the Atlantic Coast to the Hississippl River in the decade fol-
ilowing the Mexlcan Yar, At the same time, sentiment for a railroad to the
Pzcific intensified, and the merits of the proposed routes were hotly de-
bated in and out of Congress. Among the most vigorously espoused was the

southern route. The sSlave ssates, bibtierly divided over which city should

Y-



be the eastern terminus, were as one in champloning a route across the
Southwest to California, In acddition to promlsing favorable climatbe
throughout the year, such a route would be advantageous for fulfilling
the treaty commitment to protect the Mexlcans from incursions of American
Indians. Moreover, as Southerners qulekly pointed ou%, this route was
strongly recommenied by such army officers as Philip St. George Cooke and
Randolph B. Marcy, who had campaigned in the Southwest during and after
the Mexlcan War. There was but one ¢rawback., The only feasible path

for a soubthern railroad lay through the country below the Gila, and in

the peace setilement Mexico had retained this tract of land,”

In Mexicc City, American diplomats encountered a decided reluctance
to part with more Mexlean territory., Another assauit on Hexico's domain
by her northern neighbor would be difficult for ilexiean national pride
to withstand. The United States, however, held the high cards, for Santa
Anna's shaky regime desperately nzeded money, With this knowledge, Presi-
dent PFranklin Plerce dlspeiched James fadsden to Mexico Clty to open nego-
tiations with Mexican officlals for the purchase of the strategle territory
on their northern frontier, On December 30, 1853, the Gadsden Treaty was
signed in the Mexican capital. Its terms embraced three offers by Mexico.
After much acrimonious debate in Washingbon, the third was eventually
chosen. With ratification of the treaty in the swmmer of 1354, the United
States bought the country below the Gila for ten millien dollars.“ It thus

bought the soubhern rallroad route and, incidentally, 2 land belleved to be

3, Paul N. Garber, The Gadsden Treaty (Philadelphiz,
1923}, pp. 19-20.

4, Ibid., pp. 64.108, W¥Will H, Robinson, The Story
of Arizona (Phoenix, 1919), pp. 103-104,
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rich in minerals. The gateway to the newly acquired territory was Apache

Pass.

American Explorers in Avache Fags

During the five years before the signing of the Gadsden Treaty,
American explorers and emigrants had traversed the country later in-
cluded in the Gadsden Purchase, And in the years followlng the purchase,
traffic grew steadily more cense. ililitary explorers, boundary commls-
sioners, railroad surveyors, and California~bound gold seekers travelled
through the country., Many explorers and emigrants undoubtedly threaded
their way through Apache Pass in the early 1850ts. Few left a record of
their journey, and ths3e who did for the most part falled to ldentify
thelr route with mueh precision. At least two Amerilcan officials, how-
ever, were in or near Apache Pass during these yecars.,

John R. Bartlett, the American member of the joint bouncary commis-
sion, explored the Chiricahua Hountains in September, 1851, and almost
certainly used Apache Pass to cross the mountains, Bertlett had left
the Santa Rita copper mines on August 27 with an {mpressively equlpped
company of flfty-seven persons. At CJo de Vaca, he furned west on the
trail of his Mexican counterpart, Gen. Pedro Garcia Condé, who kept send-
ing back word that he had moved on to the west 1n search of gond water,
The Bavrtlett party crossed the Pelomcille :lountains and the San Slmon
Valley, then struck northwest along the eastern base of the Chiricahua
wounbains. Early in the afternoon of September 4., the column turned

sharply to the left and, entering a narrow defile, worked up to a
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mountain valley that Bartlett compared to an ampltheater. Men spread
out in a1l directions searching for water. Following a trail up a
ravine, one of the men soon dlscovered "a spring and fine pool of
erystel water." The animals were driven to this spring, and the party
nade camp nearby, This site, said Bartlett, uas "the most ellgible
camping ground we had yei met with.”

Breaking comp next morning, Partlett and his entourage entered
the pass through the mowntalns., In his jourral, the boundary comumls-
gioner recorded that the mounsains here were "more difficult te pass
than any we had encountered before, consisting as they did of coatin-
uous hills, whilch required much care on the part of our tezmsters; yet
with locking wheels two or three times, and a little assistance by hand,
we soon got through, The lergth of the pass, with all the slnuositles
of our route, dld not exceed three miles." Emerging on the other side
of the pass, the party saw spread oub below the Sulphur 3prings Valley
rimmed on the herizon by the Dragoon Mountains. Descending to the plain,
Bartlett and his men went cn t¢ join Gen. Condé and experience more

adventures.5

5, Jomn R. Bartlett, Pereonal Marrative of Ewnlorations and
Incidev%n in Texas, Neuw Mexico, bplj.OﬂnigJ_Sonora, aqd ““ihuaaua,
Coqnerted with the Uhltnd States and lexican Boanda“y Cormission,
Roring the Years 1050, 1855, 1852, &nd 1053 \New Yok, 1654}, vol. I,

DP. 307479,




Although Bartlett leoft some doubt about whether he used Apache
Pess $0 transit the Chiricahue Mountains, LE. Joha G, Parks, C(orps
of Topopraphical Engineers, left none whatever., The princi.pzi notive
in concluding the Gadsden Treaty had been to secure a southn roube
for the Pacific Failrcad. A month and 2 half before the Gacsden Treaty
was signed, and over seven monbhs before ratificatlon, Sscretary of War
Jefferson Davis commigsionad Lt. Parke to survey a railrcad route along
the thirty-second paraliel Irom the Pima villagas, on the Glla, to El
Paso, Texes, Escorbed by a detachment of the First Deagoons under Lt,
George Stoneman, Parike left the Pima villages o February 16, 185k,
Crossing the Sulphur Soxings Vallery on Pebruary 28, he could see in
the distance the Cniricahua lMountalas, with Apeache rass--Puerto del
Dado he called it--2 "very inviting™ gep "lying directly on our course,”

Popping the crest of the pass at 1 p.m. on #arch 1, Parke’s men
and animals had but one oblective--to find wabter, They were delayed
at the summlt, however, by the appearance of several Apaches at the
rear of the eolumn. Some soldlers appreoached the Indians, who greated
them with “mushos amigos.™ A short parley revealed the peaceable dispo-
sition of the savages, and the troops descended the pass, experlencing
much the same &ifficulty in negotiating the rugged slope with wagons
as had Bartlett three years before. After fifty-five wabterless miles,
Parke and his men wWere over oyed to find, 2.3 niles from the sumit,

the springs that made Apache Pass so Important,

-3




Five hundred yards from the springs, in a "smell triangular valley
with an abundance of grass and wood,” Parke made camp. March 2 proved
to be & cold and windy day, and the party remalned 1n camp near the
spring. Throughout the day, Indians came and went, some to beg and
others to sell mules. When the pool of water at the spring began to
give out, the Apaches gulded Parke to another spring in a nearby valley,
On iarch 3, the expedition brcke camp and, fellowing a fortuous ravine
down the mountain, entered the San Simon Valley,

At the conclusion of his survey, Lbt. Parke submltted his recom-
mendations to Secretary of War Devis, Had they been follcwed, the
Soukbhern Pacific Railroad today would probably go through Apache Fass.
The following year, however, Parke retraced hils journey and recommended
certain deviations in the route proposed In 1854, The new survey, he
reported, resulted in a number of important Luprovements, "not the
1enst of which is the avolding of the Puerto del Dado of the Cnhiricahul
égigf Mountains. This ridge can be turncd at its northern end by pass-
ing through a break or gap between 1t and Mount Graham," This gap, which
the Southern Pacific Railroad used when ibs ralls penetrated the reglon
in 1881, was five hundred feet lower than Apache Pass, and the grade much
less difficult., The Gap later became known as "Parke's Rellroad Pats,"

p
or simply "Railroad Pass,"”

6. Parke's first report 1s in Pacific Rallrcad Repcrts, Vol. 11,
His second repart is in Ibid,, Vol. VIIL, F&. 1I, His map, tracing the
routes of both surveys, is In Ibid., Vol. IX
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Emigration Through Apache Pass

The Californis gold rush brought thousands of emigrants over the
gouthern route %0 the Pacifie, Beglnning in 1848 from the Mexican
States, and in 1849 from the Unlted States, the Argonauts made their
way across southern Apizona (then part of the lexlcan state of Sonoral},
down the G1la to the Yuma crossing of the Colorado, and thence to the
gold filelds. According to Bancroft, the number of emigrants using the

southern route before 1851 has probably been over-estimated at 60,000.7

Nevertheless, the mlgration was a massive one, and it grew durlng the
1850's until several well-defined trails were worn into the deserts and
mountains south of the Gila,

Apache Pass was a strategle point on one of three trails across
this region, but during the early years of the migration seems {o have
been little used. The most popular roube was the Cooke wagon road,
Blazed by the H.rmon Battallon under Lt, Col, Philip St. George Cooke
in 1846-47, this trail avciced the direct route over the Chiricahua
Mountains, Instead, it mede a wide detour to the south of the mountalns,
struck the upper San Pedro River in modern Sonora, descenrded that streanm,
turned west to Tucson, bthence to the Glla and on to Calirfornia, Cooike

had wished to go directly west from the Ric Grande to the Gllia, but

7. H. H. Bancroft, History of Arizona and New lexlco,
1530-1883 {San Francisco, 1009}, p. 4a0.
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his guldes, unfamlliar with the country, dissuaded him.8 The second
trail, less suitable for wagens, followed the route taken by Gen. Stephen
W, Kearny down the Gila to California in 1846, A few venturcsome parties
shortened Cooke's route by turning west from fhe Rioc Grande, crossing the
Peloncillo and Chiricahua iountains, and jolnlng Cooke'!s wagon road on
the San Pedro, A party civganized in New Orleans in 1848 by Dr. 0. M.
Wozeneraft, who later becanme a promirent elvic leader in San Froaecisco,
15 sald to have been the first group of emigrants to use this route.

This group Went through Apache Pass.9 Qne other party, though concelv-
ably the same one, 1s meniiloned as following this cut-off in 1849, For
the most part, however, emigrants seemed 1ittle disposed to deviate from
the trails dascribed in the Journals of Cooke and W. H, Emory, Kearny's
recorder--especially to strike cut across the unknown and perhaps water-

less expanse between the Rio Grande and the San Pedro.10

8, Ralph P, Bieber, ed,, Cooke's Journal in ugplorlng
Sonthwestern Tralls, 18u-54 {3outhwest Historical Series,
Glendale, 195(,, Vel, V1ii, pp. 105-107.

g, James H, MeClintock, Arizona: Prehistoric, Aboriginel,

Pioneer, Modevrn {Chicago, 1916Y, ¥ol, i, Da 05

10, Ralph P. Bieber, "Southwestern Trails to Callfornia in

1849," Mississinpl Valley Eistorical Review, Vol. XiT,
No, 3 (Deuember, L95Q), PP DJJ ,75
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The explorations of Bartlett and Parke dispelled much of the un-
certainty about the country between the Rio Orande and Tucson, and
beginning in the mid-1850!'s the route through Apache Fass came more and
more into use, After the long, dry ftrek across the San Slmon Valley, the
promise of water &% Apache Pass was a lure that puiled the emlgrant on-
ward, At the same tine, “he Pass, stronghcld of the Apaches and a favorite
place for ambush, had acquired a sinlster reputation that must have filled
the apgproaching traveler wilh foreboding,

Bor the Apaches, in contrast to their friendly reception of Parke,
became inereazingly unpredl:tzble as travel grew more heavy. Large, well-
organized partles ususlly had 11ttle trouble, although there were ocea-
sional attempts o steal horses or wbock. Small or caraless companies,
hovwever, were not always as fortunate, AL Apeche Fass, the emlgrant
trains encountered probably the greatest darger of Indlan attack on thelr
entire westward journey. Accordivg to one authority, "In the vicinity of
Apache Pass, bones of slain czttle paralleled the road for miles, and
1ittle clumps of human graves were in sight from any point.“ll An army
officer later recalled how, en route Lo PFort Buchanan in 1858, h= had
passed through Apache Pass and observed "mumerous stone heaps that marked
vhere the members of an enlgrant party had bubt a short time before been

ruelly murdered by the cowardly Chiricahuas. "2

11. McClintock, Arizona, pp. 55-86

12, B.J.D. Irwin, "The Apache Pass PFight," The Infantry
Journal, Vol. XXXII, Ne. & {April, 1928}, p. 370.
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The emigrants had to defend themselves as best they could, for there
was 1ittle hope of military assistance. Not until 1856 did the United
States permanently station troops in the area cof the Gadsden Pureclase.

In that year four ccmpanies of the First Dragoons arrived in Tucson.

The foliowing year they built and garrisoned Fort Buchanan, on Senolta
Creek about twernlv-rive mlles east of Tubaz. These troops oscaslonally
slrirmished with Apaches, but the force was hardly large encugh o paclfy
the entire Gadsden Purchase or to afford much protection to emigrants,l3

Although the Federal Government offered but little pretectlon to
travelers, it did lsunch a anbitlous program of improving c¢ld and bulld-
ing new wegen voads To the Pacific. Pursuant to a law enacbed by Con-
gress in 1857, the Department of the Interior ectablished the Pacifis
Wegon Road Cffice. James B. Lezeh won the contract for consfructing the
road between E1 Paso and Fort Ywsa, at the mouth of the G¢ila, Instead
of routing the road through fApashe Pass, Leach ran 1t north of the Chiril-
cohuz Mcunbtains through FParkels Rallroad Pass, and by-passed Tucson
altogether.}¥ Although Leach later argued that his road saved the

traveler over forty miles, it alsec traversed almost 200 miles of desert

1%. Report of the Secretary of lar, 1855, p. 3. Ban-
eroft, Arizoua and New dexico, pps Locg-lg7, Frank €, Lock-
wood, "Eariy Filitary Posts in Arizona," Arizoma Historical
Review, Vol, II, No. 4 (January, 1930}, pp. 91-32.

14, W, Turrenbine Jagkson, kagon Rosds Wcst (Berkeley,
1952), pp. 36, 161-173, 226.
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wilderness. Enmigrants and frelighters alike chose instead the certalnty
of water and the danger of Apaches, and they continued to use the trall
through Apache Pass to Tucson.l5 This route, in fact, had also been

chosen by the engineers of the Butterfield Overland Maill, whose lumber-

ing Concord coaches begsn operating through Apache Pass in October, 1858.

'_.‘."i‘-.e Cverland Fall

As early as 1852, when Jongress authorlzed tiie Paciflc Rallroad
Surveys, officlals in Washlazton had clearly recognized that it would
be many years before the railvoad could be completed and put into opera-
tion., In the meanbime, the nation needed some form of overland mall and
passenger servlice to the peoific, With this contentlon Congress did net
argue, On the contrary, in session after session it considered The matter,
But in each instance representaslves of North and South failed to agree
on the specific route to be Poilowed. Finally, by leaving the selection
of a vouse to the Postmaster General, the 1sgsue was resolved. On ¥March 3,
1857, Congress passed the Post Office appropriation b1ll, whieh included
an amendment authorizing the establishment of overland msil service be-

£
tween the Mississippi River snd San Francisco.l

1%, R. P, and M. B. Conklling, The Pubtterfield Overland Mail,
1857-1809 (Glendale, 1547), Vol, 1, ps 131,

16. LeRoy R. Hafen, The Overland lail, 1349.1869
(Cleveland, 1926), Ch 3, 0. 0. iinther, e Soulhsrn Overland
Mail and Stagecoach Line, 1857-1861," New Mexico Historlcal Review,
Vol. XXXIT, No. 2 (April, 1957}, pp. 82-69.
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The Postraster Generzl, & Virginian, chose a southern route, with
two eastern terminl--llemphis and St. Louis. John Bubterfield and his
assoclates won the contract. In September, 1858, coaches left San Fran-
¢isco and the raiihead town ¢f Tipton, Misscuri, for the 2,795 mile jour-
ney over the "ox-bow route," a journey that Congress had declared must
ke completed within twenty-five days. For three years, the company oper-
ated over this route, and mgintained a schedule confortably within the
specified time 1imit, There are few more excltlng phases of fronbier
nistory than the stery of the Butterfield Overland Mail, and few places
along its route 2t which its story can be better told tecay than Apache
Pass.

Butterrield's stage coaches were not the frst to use Apache Pass.
When his engincers reached the pass, they found 2 stage line already in
operation there. £ mail contract had been awspedsd To Janes i, Blrch,
also 3 bidder for the overland conbtract, for a stage line between San
Antonio and San Diego, DBirch's equipment began relling in the swwncr of
1857, but fron all inclectlons few stations were ever bullt and service
was not particulariy satisfactory. When the Bubterfleld coaches began to
use the route between Z1 Pasc and Fert Yuma, Birch's company discontinued

service on this part of the 1ine.17

17. Conkiing and Cenkling, Butterfielé Overliand 'all, Vol. I,
pp. 92-97. Frank C. Loclwood, Ploneer Deys in Arvizone (New York,
1932}, p. 300. The first Butterfield coach from the Last bore to
Arizona one of the oubstanding pioncers of the Southwest, Charles T.
Hayden, whose son, Scnator Carl T, Hayden, has represented Arizona
in the U, 8. Congress since admission to stafehocod in 1912,
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Near the Apache Springs, where Bartlelt and Parke had camped and
where emigrants habitually replenished their wabter supply, the Butter-
field Company btuilt the Apache Pass stage staticn, No dlagram of this
structure has been located, but, like most other stations, 1% probably
had cne or two small rooms for the athendants and a cerral for horses.
According to Cap%. Joom €. Cremony, who wes there in 1862, the shation
was bulld of atnneale A large pile of vocks jush nerth off the ~14 Fort
Bowle cemsiery today marks the prebable site of *he buliding. Excavaiilon

ad hence the flocr plan, of the siage

4}

might well revesl the foundatlons,
station.

According to the hilstorlans of bhe Bubterfleld Overland pall, "The
meil road entered Speche Pass thres-quarvbers of 8 nile soubh of the
Z;reSengfiawhorn revel-hopze and then followed a winding course soubh
theough the canyon glong the eash 2ide of wnat 1o now known as I'orb Bowle
wazh S0 a paint abeub an eighth of a mile west of the springs inown origi-

: . ) 1 .
nally a3 Apache Springs, whsve the £92%ion was 1ozared."? At the station,

the horses wepe changed and the pagsengers refreshed themselves at the
springs, Then the coach continusd northwest up to the summit of the

pess, the highest point on the Wesfern Division of the route, descended

r—

18, John C. Cremony, Life Among the Apaches (San Francisco,
1868), p. 164.

19, Conkling and Coniling, Butterfield Overland Mail, Vol, I,
D. 132,
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in a wide, southwesterly arc to the Sulphur Springs Valley, and pro-

ceeded on to Bwell'ls station, fifteen miles west of the pass.20

Like the emlgrants, John Butterfield regarded Apache TFass the
most dangerous polnt on the entlre line to the Pacifiec. This region
was still the stronghold of the Thirileahua Apaches. Under Cochise,
one of the most CGyranic leaders in thelr hiatory, fthey lived in the
Drageoon rcuntains, but also roamed extensively over the Chiriczhua
Mountaing., Although scme of his people were undoubtedly respunsible
for many of the tragedies Lhat befell emigrants in Apache Pass, Cochice
himself seenms at first to hive been pesceably disposed towerd the
whites, At any rate, Le railsed no objection to the construetion of a
ma1l station at Apache Fass, And in December, 1858, he promised an
agent of the Indian Bureau, whon he conferred with at Apache Pass,
that travelers passing through his demaln would not be molested.
Nevertheless, the agent apparerntly had some misglivings aboul the re-
1iab1lity cof the Apaches, for he proposed that they be moved north,
away from the travel route. John Butterfield accorded the Apaches
even less confidence, and he urged the fovernment to establich a mili-
tary pest in Apache Pass te protect his coaches on this critical segmend
¢f thelr journey; Altheough his pronosal was favoratly recelved in

Washington, no action was taken during the period that the Overland

20. Ibid., p. 139.
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Ma1l used the southern routeqzl

Butterfield's arprehension may not have been well-founded in 18583,
Three years later it was, In 1861 Apache Pass was the scene of hilstorie
events that implanted in Cochise a deep and undying hatred of the white
man., At this time, alsc, a Butterfield stage coach, for the first time

on record, was stiscked by Indilans and the mall delayed.

the Apazhe Pass Piekt
slthough Jokn Rutterfield distrusted Cochise, his agent at the

Apache Pass stags station, a man named Culver, established apparenily

cordial relations with the Chirilcahua chief. Cwiver, in fact, hed

contracted with Cochise to supply bthe mail station with wood, and for

that purpose the Chiricahuas nad moved thelr camp bo the viclalty of

the stage statlon. They wevrz living here in February, 1801, when LT.

Georee N. Pascom snd sixty men of the Seventu Infzntry arrived from
o

Fort Buchanan,
Bascom's mission was 2 delicate one, requlring mcre wnowledge of

Indian ways than the young 11sutenant possessed., Three nonihs pre-

vlously an Apache raiding party had stelen some stock from the ranch

of John Ward {or Wadsworth} on Scunolta Crenk. They had also abducted

the swmall son of a liexlcan woman who 1ived with Ward, Although the

21, Inid., p. 133, Paul Wellman, Death in the Desert (New York,
1935}, p. 60. Report of the Secretary of the Interlor, 1354-60, p. Tit.
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Chiricahuas were probably in no way involved in the kidnapping and theft,
Ward was convinced that Cochise's warriors were gulity, He had appealed
to Col. Piteairn Morrison at Fort Buchanen to recover the stolen property.
This duty Col, Krrrizon had assfgned to Lt, Bascon.

Bascom camped in Apache Pass, and under a flag of truce invited
Cochise inte his tent to confer., The Lieutenant brusquely charged
Cochise with the erime and demanded the return c¢f the boy and the catile,
Cochlse denied all knowledre cf the affalr, offering at the same time to
help in the search., But Bascom refused to listen, He informed Cochise
ﬁhat he would be held prisoner until his people returned the stock and
the Mexzican boy. Enraged, the Apache chief drew his knlfe, slashed the
wall of the tent, and siipped out. He then bolted through the cordon of
soldiers and, though wounded in the leg, van up the slope to safety. The
troops selzed the other meabers of the Apazhe grovp, Inciuding Cochlsels
half-brother, and retreated to the stage station, where they barriecaded
themselves in the corral. GCochlse, after collecting his WEPrPriors, ap-
peared on the hill near the station and called to the atbendant Lo come
out and talk. Culver and two other Butterfield employees, Walsn and
Wallace, walked out to meet Cocilse. The Indians instanily seirzed
wallace, bub the other two Americsns broke and ran back to the station.

They were dropped by a shower of bullets before reaching safety.22

22. TFrank C, Lockwood, The Apache Indians {New York, 1938},
pp. 100-102.
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Early in the evening the westbound stage reached the statlon, paused
long enough to change the team, and rushed on into Apache Pass. Strangely,
it made i%s way through the pass in safety. Near the western end of the
pass, the stage came upon the smoldering remains of an emigrant train,
Makilated bodies were scaitered about the charred wreclage. Eight of the
men had apparenily been bound to wagoa wheels and burned alive. A%t Ewell's
station *he westbound stage met the eastbound stage. Apprised of the danger
that awaited them in Apache Pass, The occupants of the eastbound stage
neverthelecs decided to Hry bo make it to the Apache Psss station, Enter-
ing the pess well after dark, the stage had reached the summit and beguh
its descent when, from the slcpes above, the Apaches opened flre. The
driver was wounded and two of the mules fzll, The passengers returned
the fire and William Buckley, Buiterfield division superincendent, who
chanced to be on the coazh, leaped to the grouvad and cut the two mules
from their traces. With the weundesd driver still at the reins, fhe ecoach
fought 1ts way down to the station,??

During the next few days Cochlse tried twice to induce Bascom to
exchange his Apache prisoners for Wallace. Each time Bascom refused the

orffer, demanding that Cochise first return the stock and the Mexlcan boy.

P

23, Conkling and Conkling, Butberfield Overland ¥all, Vol. IL,
ppa 135-13b3
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At length Cochise made a final atfeupt. He brought forth Wallace, whose
hands were bound by a rope one end of which was tled to Cochise 's saddie.
Wallace made a desperate plea o Bascom $0 acceplt the Enache teras, butb

the Lieutenant again refused. Sgt. Reuben FP. Berrara alsec argued with
Bascom, buf to no avail. Bascom placed Bernard under ayrest for insubordl-
pation. Seeing *rat his opponent had no imtention of ylelding, Cochisze
suddenly spurrad his mount end, before the eyes of the soldiers, Cragged
Wallace over the rocky ground to his death. The Apaches then disappeared

into the hills.o}

During the firss night of the slege, Bescom had sent 2 srurler to
try and work his way through the paszs and ride to Fort Buchanan for help.
The soldlcr arrived ab the fort safely, and Col. torrison dispatched As-
sigtant Surgecn B.J.D. Irwin and & emall detachuent of soldiers back to
the mall statiocn., Taey arrived severel days lafer, and the follcwlng day
Pascom was veinforced by tuwe companlss of the First Dragoons from Fort
Breckenricge. Whe sirengiiened force then s2t out in search of {ochise,
They located and dasbroyad tre Chiricahue sanp, but ¢ould find rs indlans,
In £he eourse of this scoub, the troops discoverad the hodieg of six white
men, prosbly from the ambuzhed eaigrart train, whom the Apaches had

hanged. Ouwiraged, Lt. Bascem promptly rode back to the stage stztien and

2%, Lociwood, Apache Indisns, pp. 108-105.
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hanged his six Apache hostages in retaliation, The troops then returned
to thelr stations.25

If Cochise had been an wiknoun quantity before Bascon arrived cn
the scene, there was now no question whatever, The Chiricahuas had
gone, or been driven, on io the warpath, and were not te rake peace for
over a decale, 1% wag £ parvicularly imauspicious time, feor the apprcach-
ing Civil Yar ues to leave the Arizona frontier utterly without military
protecticn, The impending crisis also forced Joha Dutterfield to abandon
the great ox-bow shage route. In Jenuary, 1801, secessionist elements in
Texas confisgated stock aad equipment belonging to the stage ccmpany, and
the m2ils were stoppad 20 FPort Soith and Tucsen, 283 a result, the Butter-
field Compary in tRrch established schedules cver the central route, reach-

ing San Francimco by way of the Piatte River and the Califernia Trail,

3. Iruin, "Apache Pass Fizht," pp. 373-375. Trwin, who
wrote hls acnount in 1837, stated that he himself hed sugpeshed
that the prlsorers be hanged, 2nd had insisted vhen Bascom

demuvrred.
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Part 1T

THE FOUNDING OF FORT BOWIE
Preoccupled as they were with life and death struggle agalnst the
Apaches, the swa2ll band of American settlers south of the Gila River
still found time to form shtrong opinions on the great nabioval 1lssue of
the day. COverwhelmingly they favored the secesgionist cause, Aithough
neither the people nor bthe land eoculd contribute much Lo the Southern
war effort, the new Confederate government In Richmoind took more than a

passing interest in the Glla country., 1Its geographical position made it

vital to plans the Confelerates were forming for eventually ccinguering the

Calsfornia goid fields, In the 155G1s this region had offered the only
practicable southern rovte for a railrcad to California, In the 1860's
it offered the only practicahle southern route for an invasion of Cali-
fornia. Accordingly, when a Texan foree captured the Hesilla Valley In
July, 1861, Lt. Ccl. Jobn R. Beylor proclaimed that all of New iexico
south of the thirty-fourth parallel now conprised the Confederate Terri-
tory of Arizona. Early in 1852 he sent Capt. Sherod Hunter with a smail
force of soldiers to take possession of the Gila reglon. On February 25

Hunter ccecupled Tucson.1

1. Bancreft, Arizona and New Mexlco, pp. 511-513. See also
Hunter to Baylor, April ©, loo2, in Richard H Orton, ed., Records
of Celifornia Men in the Vair of the Bebel lion, 1861-1807 (sacramento,

1‘590}: P. 35-
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As a result of Baylor!s advance into New Mexico, the federal troops
stationed at Forts Buchanan and Breckenridge had been wiﬁhdraWn.z The
Apaches, knowlng nothing of the great war in the East, supposed that they
had frightened the soldlers !nto leaving. With murder, rebbery, and plllage,
they terrorized the land until only in Tucson did the whltes feel secure.

A%t Apsche Pass, Cochise and his Chirilcahuas all bub cheked of f traffic on
the road to Tucsan, Put, unimown to the Chilef, a formicabie advarazary was
sorn to enter the picture in the perscn of Brig. Gen. James H. Carleten.

To meet the threat posed by the Confederate invaslon of the Pio frande,
Carieton was leading a fores cf 1,800 Califorats Volunteers from Fort

Yuma up the Gila. Capb. BEunter and his small band of Southerners hastily
pulled back te Joln Baylor, &nd on kay 20 the advance guard of the Californla

Column ertered Tueson, whers Carletcn scon establlshed his headquarters.

Roberfis’ Zatbic uith Cochlss
Carletonr intendsd to mareh east, clear the Ric Greande Valley of Con-~
federates, and join Brig. Gen, E.R,S, Canby, who commanded Unlted States

forces in New Fexieo., On June 15, 1862, he sent out three couriers with

dispatznes for Canby. Indlans weylaild them ia Apache Pass and killed two,

-

2. Many officers had already cast thelr fortunes with the
South, One of these was Capt. R. 5. Bwell, who later earned fame
as & Confederate goneral.
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The other made his escape only to fall inbto the hands of Confederates on
the Rio Grande.3
$1x days later, on June 21, Lt. Col, E. E. Eyre and 140 men of the
Firet California Cavalry left Tuescn with orders from Carleton to establish

an afivance base on the Rio Orande, While Eyre watered his animals at the
springs in Apache Pass, seventy-five to & hundred Indlans, mounted an
well-armed, apjeared uncomfortably close to the grazing cavalry horses.
AS the Apaches bore a white flag, Eyre went out t0 confer with thelr
chlef--pertaps Cochise, although Eyre seems not to have known his nasme.
The Colerel teld the Apache leader all about fthe great captain in Wash-
ington and the great captain 1n Tucson, and hew the Lnericans wanted
very much to be friends with the Apaches, The Chief sald that he, too,
wanted peace, &8 well as toracco and food. The conference adjourned
with the Indlans recciving tobaceco and food and the solidiers recelving
promlses of waolested pagsege turough Apache territory. The Indians
withdrew; shot, laneeq, and scalped three Talifornians who had strayed
from camp; and easily eluded a pursuing party ordered ¢t by the augr
Fyre, Apparenily anxious to have Azache Pass behind them, the trcops

moved down to the San Simon Valley and made a dry camp for the night.

3, The ¥ar of the Rebellion, Officlal Records of the Union

and Confederate frmlies, 2er, I, Vol, L, PL, 1, pp. 93-123.

ot Sl

teveirafter cited as O Re




At 11 p.m., a volley of six to elght shots disturbed the milltary routine,
wounding the assistant surgeon and killing a horse. The Californians had
been well indoctrinated In Apache wa:,'s.u
Col, Eyre might well have congratulated himself on experiencing so
1ittle trouble in Apache Pass. Not so fortunate was Cap%. Thomas L.
Roberts, whom Carlehoun sent out to establish a supply base Ior Eyre at
tne old Sen Simon stage sbatlon east of Apsche Pass, With 126 men, both
1afantry znd cavalry, a battery of two pralrie howllzers, and a large
wagon train, Roberts set out Ifrom Tucson on July 10. Four days later,
at Dragoon Springs, he divided his command. Leaving Capt. Jutm G,
Cremony and his company of cavalry fo guard the wagon train, Roherts
pushed on with the infantry and artillery to assartein whether enough
water for the commend mizhs be fourndd in Apache Pass, forty miles distant,
Unknown 50 Roverts, neerly five hundred Araches awvalted him In
Apache Pass, According to Jremuuy, FAngas Coloradas had come to persuade
Cochise to joln him in exzelling miners from his dorain in the vicinity
of the Pinos Al%os gold mineg, Instead, Coelilse had persuaded Mongas to
remain and help make war on the soldlers coning from the west. The aliiled

Higbres snd Chiricshuas concealed themselves behind rocks on the slepes

L, FEyre's report, July 6, 1862, in Orton, Regords of California
Yen, pp. 58-60.



above Apache Pass and walted for the unsuspecting Roberts to march into

the ambush.5

The CGalifornians were well into the Pass a$f noon on July 15 when,
from above on both sides, the warriors opened a savage fire. Unable to
return the fire with any effect, Roberts backed out of the pass. Bub it
was imperetive trut he reach the springs c¢a the other slde of the defile.
Re-forming his counand, he again advanced Inte the deadly fire and managed
to cut his way through o the old shtage station near the Springse6

St111 the truops were denled water. The Apaches gathered behind
rock breastworiks thet they had built on the slopes commanding the springs,
and, as Roberts later reported, "they seemed very lcath to let me have
water.'! The Canbtain now played his trump card., He ran the howitzers Into
position, breaking thelr troils 1in order to elevate the muzzles enough to
bring the enemy fortificatisas undsr five. Turating artlllery shells
scabbered the warriors over the hills and ensbled Roberts! men to take

poasessicon of the egprings.

5, Cremovny, Life Amorg the Apaches, pp. 160-151.

¢, See Roberts! report, July 19, 1862, in 0.R.,
Ser. I, Vol. L, Pt. 1, pp, 128-132, Cremony, Life
Among the Apaches, pp. 157-187, glves a cdetalled
azecount of the battle.

7. George H, Pettis, "The Calffornia Column,"
Arizora Historical Review, Vol. I, No. 1 (April, 1928}, p. 89.
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The Captain next sent six cavalrymen back b0 find the wagon train
and relate what had happened, They were also to tell Capt. CGremony that
Roberts would leave a detachment at the springs and march back %o join
the wagons in order to escort them through Apache Fass. The couriers
were no sconer through the pass than about forty Apaches fell upen tham.
A running flght ernsusd. Tvb, John W. Teal fell behind his companions
and was cub off. His horse was hit by a bullet and dropped. Tawing
refuge behind the <ying mount, Teal held the clroling savages at bay
with his carbine and revolver. A fortunate shol wounded Mangas Coloradas

imself, and the Incdians promptly lost interest in the contest. Shoulder-
ing his sadlle, Teal followed the trall of his comvades and, after an
elght mile hike, joinedthem at Capt. Crenony’s new cemp, The Captain
upon learning from the resh ol the courlers of Roberts! misfortune, had

parked the traln at Ewellls old stage statlon, fiftecn mlles west of the

0

pass, Shortly tefore midnlzht, the exhausted iafanbry finally arrived.S
Early the next morning, the entire command began the march back to

Apache Pass. TIn shirmish formation, with flankers throun wide to either

sida, Roberts brousht his treops safely through the pass and Joined the

detachment left at the springs the night bafore. Again the Apaches had

8, Cremony!s report, July b, 1862, in Q.R., Ser, I, Vol. L,
5. I, po. 132-134%. See also Cremeny, Life Anopg the Apaches,
pp. 157-160.
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occupied the breastworks above the springs, and again an artillery
pembardrent swiftly cleared them out. The rest of the day the troops
employed watering the animals and restocking their own supply of watepr.
Also, Roberts had the spring dug oubt and its sides shored up with a
makeshift wall. “The capacity of the sprinmgs, he reported, had been
therepy incrsased fourfold, On the mornlng of July 17, the ¢olumn broke
camp and merched on to the San Simon station, where Roberts carried out
18 mission by ezbabiishing a swoply base.

in his two-day battle at Apache Pass, C:pt. Roborits had lost two
killed and two woundad, and he reported that his men had killed at
least nine Indians, A1 Apache participant later teld Capt. Cremoeny
that sixty-vhree warriors had been killed by the howitzers and only

three by musketry. Mie would have done well ensugh,' he added, "if

9

you had not fired wagons a% us,”

From thelr similar sxperienies abt Apache Pass, both Col. Eyre and
Capt. Roberts slearly saw that, once the California Column noved to the
Rio Grande, its line of communication with Tueson znd California would
be in jeopardy as long as the Indlans held undisputad possession of
Apache Pass. Reporting his baltile in the pass, Capt. Reberts on July 19,

1862, advised {en. Carieton of his convletion that 13 foree sufficisnt to

9, Cremony, Life Among the Ansches, p. 104,
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hold the water and pass should be stationed there, ctherwise every comangd
will have to fight for water, and , . . are almost certain to lose some
11ves.® A& week and a half earlier, Col, Eyre had made sinilar recommenca-
tions to the General, suogesting that a company of infantry be positioned
at Dragoon Springs and two at Apache Pass. Infantry, he claimed, would
be much mere effestive than cavalry, which would have Qifficulty operating
in %the ruszzed nountain terrain and, moreover, would be urable to find
adequate forage for its mounts.lo

Cen. Carleten himself had an onportunity to inspect Apache Pass late
in July. WYith the hulk of his command, he lel fpeson on July 23 to
estabpiiszh his hesdguarbers on the Rlo Grande, Four days later he was
at the Apache Pasg mail station. As Carleton later reporbted, he found it
indispensably necessary to estabiish a post in what 1s known as Apache
Pass,“11 apd at the nmail siztion he had his afjutant genaral write oub
the necessary crdev, The order specified thet 100 wen from Companles G
and &, Fifth Coliforania Inmfauniry, were 1O remain at the pass to consbruct
the fort, which wes to be mamed for the Coloinel of the Iifth, G=orge

Washingbon Bowie. aj. T. A, Coult, of the same regiment, was o super-

vise the projzct and serve as the flrst post commander. Carleton left no

10. O, R,, Ser. I, Vol., L. Ft, I, pp. 128129,
S 1

Orton, Records of Us1lifornia Hen, p.

11, Carleton to Drum, Assistant Adjiutant Genersl
at San Franciseo, Sept. 20, 1802, in Orion, Records
of California Men, p. 6k,
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doubt in Mzj. Coult's mind about what hils mission would be. 2 was not

only %o escort travelers, mall courlers, and supply brains thirough the

pass "and well out into open country,” but also to "cause the Apache

Indians to ve attacked whenever and wherever he 2y find them near his
wp L2 . , P
pust, The next dey, July 28, 1862, Fort Bowle officially began to
play its long and colcriul role in the conguest of the Apaches,
Faj, Couit was soon relnforced by forty-nine more men, including
a detashment of cavalry, and he set about constructbing the fort, Capt.

L. B, ifitchell chose the site, a bill dominating the ravine in which the

springs were situaied. n the four faces of tais hill the Calilornians

constructed dzfensive cuiwerks, Dlescribing the foripifications, Coult

veported that

The total length of wall around the pest is
412 feeh, the helght four to four and a half
fest, and bhickness from fuo and & 2li o
three fezt ab botham, tanering to eligntoen
inshes to tuo feet at top, and bullt of
stoves welghlnz from twenty-five to 500
pounds, The worls are not of any regular
form, my only oblect being to bulld defenses
whtish could be spoedily completed, and at
the same time possess the requisites of
shaltering their defenders, commanding every
approach £o the hill, and proteeting each
other by Tiank filres along thelr faces.

The breashworks enclosed canvas tents in which the men lived, 28 well as

a shtone guardhouse fourteen feet square and loopholed on two sides.1?

12, Records of the Adiutant General, Fort Bowie,
arizona Jerriliory, Reservation Flle, July 2?,‘f§b2.
Reproduced in Richard ¥, oueray, The History of Forh
Towie {unpublished Mastew!s.thesls, Unlversity of
irizona, 1951}, pp. 60-61,

13, 0O.R., Ser, I, Voil, L, Pt. 2, pp. 73-Th.
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Completed in two and a half wscks, the new fort lec'ed rmore like a
temporary cantonment than a permanent installation. But Coult felit that
1t would serve the purpose for which 1t was designed. Arnd Inde.d it cld,
Although officers and men alike consldered Fort Bowle a most undesirabie
station--even after a larger and most substantial post was constructed--

the Chirieahuas ware nevar agailn to centrol Apache Pass.

s Volvntesrs, 1862-7555

The measure of Fort Bowle'!s success 1s to be discerned 1n the few
¢lashes with Apaches that oceurred there after its establishment. An
Indlan was occasionally to be seen lurking in the hills around the fort,

. and now and then sbock or horses disappeared. Any soldier who wandered
far from camp by himself took a fearful risk, and some lost their lives.
But the battles between whites and Apaches for the water c¢f Apache Springs
seemed now 6 be a thing of the past, Aside from the daily military rou-
tine, the troops kept busy escorting supply trains and mall ouriers through
the pass, and in meking the few {mprovements in living conditicas that
were possible with limited means and a saall parrison,

Life at Fort Bowie had few features to recommend it to the Cali-
fornians. The post was 1solated, the habitatlons rude, the fcod bhad,
and sickness prevalent., If Indlans were selcom seen, they were never-
theless present, and a nerve-racking vigilance was always neceseary,
Recognlzing the morale problem, Gen. Carleton saw to 1t that the troops
were rotated often., Post commanders and garrisons canme and went with

great frequency, and most units enroute from Tucson to Santa Fe, where
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Carletcn had se% up his headquarters, had to take thelr four of duty

at Bowie. Maj, Coult relincuished his command within two months, and by
the following surmer the post had been commanded, successlvely, by no
iess than six officers,

Perhaps because perszonnel assigned to Bowie c¢ould look forwsrd to
imninent reassignanent, but alse because of insufficient manpower, tools,
and conatruetion materizl, the fort became an even more miserable statlon
than 1t had originslly been. In Cektober, 1303, the post comwender des-
eribed the condition of the fort for Gen. Carleton:

The quarters, if it 1s not an zabuge of language

to call tvan such, have been constructed without

wysten, regard to health, defense or zonvenlence.

These cceupled by the men are mere hovels, mosvly

gxcavations in the side hill, damp, 1lly veantl-

lsted, and covered with decomposed granite taken

frem the excavation, throuzgh which the railn passes

very much as it would through 2 sieve. By the

removal of a few tents, hhe ploce would present

more the appearvivze of,a Callfornia digger rancherla

thon a wmilitary post.”
Carleton received freguest prepozals for remedying these conditlons, and
indeed autheorized the conziruction of a new fort in Apache Pasgs, Bub
commaid changes snd departuental reorpgenization produced one delay after

apother, and no action was %Saken untll after the Californians had been

mustered cut of the servics.

e

1%, O.R,, Ser. I, Yol. L, Pt. 2, p. 1134,
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Although the troops at Fort Bowle successfully carried oub Carleton's
instructions to protect that portion of his line of comamunlcation iying
through Apache Pass, they found it next to impossible to “cause the
Apache Indlans to be attacked whenever and wherever' they might be found,
There were rarely more then 2 hundred men at Bowle, and often as few as
fifty. Such a small force could do little more than garrison the post and
provide escort service thrcugh the pass. Occasicnal pabtrols sought to
ferret out the Indians, but with scant success.

One such patrol set oubt on Aprii 25, 1863, to investigate reports
of a large force of Indisns north of the fort., At the springs the de-
tachment discovered a party of Apaches and opened {ire. The Apaches
returned the fire and began to withdraw. After a three-heur running
fight, the troops broke off the pursult and, with one man wounded, re-
turned to the fort. The Apaches h2d thelr revyerge four months later.
With masterful tactics, bthree separate parties of Indlans managed to
divert the herd guard 2nd make off with the entire herd of cavalry horses,
The post commender led 2 detachment in pursulf, but the Apaches =ucceeded

in escaping with their plunder intactol5

15. Report of Capt, B, F. Harrover, April 26, 1863, in Q.R.,
Ser. I, Vol. L, Pt. 1, p. 213, Report of Sgt. Charles Kuht,
Sept. 1, 1863, in Ibid., p. 233.
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Until 1864, Gen, Carleton had his hands full fighting hostlle
tpibes in New Mexico. But in the spring of 1864 he turned his atten-
tion to the Arizona Apaches. In the campaign that foliowed, the role
played by troops from Bowie was largely one of unrewarding scouting in
the Chiricahua Mountains. In say, however, they formed part of a command
organized by Lt. Col. Nelson H. Davis, whom Carleton had lnstructed to
found a new post, Camp Goodwin, on the Gila River, In the course of his
march, Davis located and destroyed four Apache camps, killing some eighty
Indlans and capburing thirteen.lG

Early in the foilowing year, 1865, Fort Bowie got perhaps its most
energetic commanding o’ficer to date, Lt, Col. Clarence E. Bennett,
Led by Bennett, the garrison saw much fleld service put few Indians.
On an extended scout to the Gila, however, he located an Apache rancherla
and, taking elaborate precautions to surprisge 1t, deployed his men for
the attack. Bub the Indians discovered his approach and fled, leaving
him an empty camp to destroy. The next day, on hls way back to Fort
Bowle, Dennett struck another trail, followed 1t into a canyon, and
came upon the camp of Francisco's band of Apaches. Again the Indlans
scattered before battle could be jolned, but Bennett managed to capture

17

their cattle herd and drive it baclt fo Bowie.

16. 0. R., Ser, I, Vol. XLVIII, Pt. 1, p. 903.
Ibid., Ser. I, Vol. L, Pt. 2, p. 868,

17. Bemnett's Report, July 6, 1865, in C. R.,
Ser, I, Vol. L, Pt. 1, pp. Yis5-419,
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A campaign organized by Brig. Gen. John S, Mason kept the Califor-
nians from Bowie in the field during much of the winter of 1865-66.
Again they thoroughly scouted the Chiricahua Mountains, had cne en-
counter with Cochise, and spent several months trying, without success,
to bring on another.18 T™is was the last service the California Volun-
teers saw in the Apoche Wars, It was over a year after Appomattox when
they were finally relieved by regular troops and sent back to Czlifornia
to be mustered out of the service. On imy 3, 1866, Capt. W. H. Broun
arrived at Fort Bowle with Company E, Pourteenth U.S. Infantry. He

found Cochise 8ti1ll very much at large and more actlvely hostile than

gver.,

18. Ralph H, Ogle, "Federal Control of the
Western Apaches,” WNew Mexico Historical Review,
Vol., XIV, No., 4 {Ostober, 1959}, p. 303.
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Part III

PEACE WITH CCCHISE

For six long and bloody years after the close of the Civil War,
Cochise ravaged the ranches and settlements of southeastern Arizona.
Almost alone, the lnadequate garrison of Fort Bowie stood against
Cochise and his §ribesaen. The memory of the unfortunate Pascom episode
continued to £111 the Chiricahua Chief with bltter hatred for the white
man, and he led his warriors in a bloody war of extermination that
spared no American or Mexican unlucky enough to fall within hls grasp.
Murders and depredations multiplied alarmingly, and the citlzens and

officials of the territory criesd in valn for enouch troops to gubjugate

the Apaches.”
Although the garrison at Fort Bowle was not strengthened, the posi

1tself was enlarged in 1868. A new location was selected on 2 plateau

1. The demand for more troops, however, did not originate entirely
in a desire to end hostilities. Brig. Gen. E. 0., C. Ord, commanding the
Department of California, reported In 1869 that supplying the Army was
almost the only profitable business in Arizona. "Hostilities,” he sald,
Uype Lherefore kept up with a view to protecting inhabitants most of
whom are supported by the hostiiities., OF course thelr support belng
derived from the presence of troops, they are continually asking for
more.® Report of the Secretary of ¥War, 1869 (abridgement}, p. 116.




southeast of the first fort, and construetion of adobe quarters began
imuediately. Substantial barracks, a row of houses for officers, corrals
and store houses, a sutler's store, and 2 comuedious hospital soon occu-
pied the four sides of the 510p;ng parade ground.2 In subseguent years
more buildings were aclded, and at the time of its abandonment in 1894
Fort Bowie consisved cf some three dozen structures, mest of them adobe

construction,

Lagh Yeaprs of the Cochise dar

Cochise found many attractlve new opportunities for murder and
plunder when the Government, in 1866, restored mail service between
Mesilla and Tucscn. A& post office was opened on this route at Fort
Bowie, and the mall carriers rode through Apache Pass twice a week.
The duty was extreacly hazardous, and many mail courlers lost their
lives in ambushes prepared by Cochise's warriors. Following such 2
xilling, patrols norially seb ous from Bowle in pursult, but they

rarely caught the 0ffenders.3

2. The post is described in the following scurces: War Dept.,
Surgeon General's Cffice, "s Report on Barracks and Hospitals with
Descriptions of :ilitary Posts," Circular No. 4 (Wzshington, 1370).
War Dept., Surgeon General's Orfice, "A Report of the Hyglene of
the United States Aray with Descriptions of Hilltary Posts,” Circular
No. 8 (Washingfon, 1375). Throughout its history, the post in Apache
Pass was known alternately as Camp Bowie and Fort Bowle. In 1879 it
was officially declarcd a fory.

3, TlMurray, History of Fort Bowle, pp. 110 passinm.
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In 1869 Fort Bowle got an unusually sggressive and capable commang=
ing officer whe had met Cochlse in battle before. As a sergeant, Capt.
Reuben F. Bernard had been with Lt. Bascom in 1861 when that officer
clashed with Cochise. & court-martial had acquitted Bernard of insubor-
dination in opposing Bascom's course of aetion, and he had risen through
the panks to the grade <f captain. 4s the commander of Troop G, Flrst
Cavalry, Bernard now returned to Apache Pass to undertalke a series of
vigorous field expedliions against Cochise. In October, 1569, Bernard
and sixty-one men fought a battle with several hunéred of Cochlse's
followers in the Chiricahuz Mountalns, and killed eighteen warriors.

A week later, he encountered Cochise again, but this time the Apaches
numbered over five hundred and, after a hard fought battle, they forced
nim to fortify. A rellef party from Bowle fatled to break the sltege,
and only on the approach of a strong force from Camp Crittenden did

the Apaches scatter into the mountains. Early in 1870 Bernard retali-
ated by surprising his antagonist in the Dragoon tiountaing and kllling
thirteen Apaches. Agaln in January, 1871, Bernard struck. He fell on
a hostile camp in the Pinal Mountains, killed nine Indians and wounded
many more.LL Bernard was transferred after this engagement, hut his suec-

cessors continued the relentless campalgn agatnst the Chirlcahuas.

4., Post Returns, Oct., 1869; Nov,, 1869; Feb., 1870; Jan., 1871.
Cited in Murray, History of Fort Bowie, pD. 119-123,
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To the handful of troops at Fort Bowie, and perhaps to Cochise also,
1t must have seemed as though the bloody confiict would continue in-
definitely., In the years since the Clvil ¥War, dozens of battles and
countless skirmishes had been fought betweén Cocnise and troops from
Bowie, and the issue secmed no closer to resoluﬁion. The sltuation had
its counterpart in almost every sectlon of Arigona, where scattered out«
posts of soldiers contended against other bands of Apaches. To breathe
new 1ife into the military effort against the Apiches, the Army in 1871
assigned Lt. Col. George Crook, Brevet Major General, fo command the
Department of Arizona. With five companiles of cavalry, Crook took the
fleld in July, visited ort Bowle, and proceeded nortimard to inspect
other installations and toughen his command. In the mldst of this march,
he learned that the Grant admlnistration had decided to test 1ts highly
touted "Peace Pollcy" among the Arizona Apaches, and he was forced to
suspend operaticns while the Presideni's emlssaries attempted 8 coneiila-
tory approacha5 With the Chiricahuas, this approach was not the dismal

failure it proved elsevhere in Arizona,

The Howard Mlisslon

While Crook marked time, 2 presidential representative, Gen. Gordon
Granger, was sent oubt to talk with Cochise, Early in September, 1871, the
two met 1n the Canada Alamosa Valley of New lMexico. Granger promised
Cochlse a reservabion in the country where they were then conferring if
he would cease raiding and live 1n peace. Thils proposal Cochlse found

acceptable. Several months later, however, the Chiricahuas were ordered

5. Martin F. Schmitt, ed., General George Crook, his Autobilography
(Norman, 1946}, pp. 160-168,
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to a reservation in the barren Tularosa Bagin of New Mexlco, and Cochlse
replied by renewing hostilitles on an even largex_!_':seale.6 Another
representative of the President, Viocent Colyer, was meanvhlile Journey-
ing the length of Arizona, conferring with one tr}be of Apaches afyer
another, Crook had no confidence 1in the prqmlsesfthe Indians so freely
made to Colyer, ard bluntly told him so0. Ewen Cslyer aoon admitted
failure, for the Apaches only wailted until he w@s out of sight to com-
nmit fresh outrages. Crook prepared Lo resune the offensive,7
Almost immedlately, however, anociher peage emissary from wWashington
arrived on the scene., Vastly annoyed, Crook gat back to watch B J. Gen,
Oliver Q. Howard try his hand at negotiating with the Apaches. An offiger
with a distingulshed war record, the one-armed Hcwsrd had 8ls50 earned a
reputation for deep rellglous convictions. No less lmpressed with the
merits of the Peace Policy than Vincent Colyer, he was at the same time
far more practical and flexible of mind than Co.yer. Crook, however, had

8

1ittle use for Howard, whom he regarded as a pompous religious faratle,

6. Wellman, Death on Horscback, pp. 343-34%, &he text of Cuchise's
eloquent speech to CGranger is reproduced in A, N. Ellis, "Recollectlons of
an Interview with Cochise, Chief of the Apaches,” £ollections of the Kensas
State Historical Soclety, Vol. XIII {Topeka, 1915), pp. 397-392.

7. Schmitt, General George Crook, pp. 167-168.

8. Ibid., pp. 169-170.
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While Crook chafed at the delay, Howard made one unsuccessful atiempt after
another to locate and confer with Cochise,

At length Howard found a way to open communication with the elusive
Chiricahua leader. At a military camp in the Tulargsa Sasin, the General
chanced to meet Thomas J. Jeffords, an army scoutb. ‘In 1867, Jeffords had
superintended the mail service between Fort Douwle and Tucson. During a
period of a year and a half, fourtcen of hils men nad been killed by Cochise's
warriors. Disillusicned with the Arny!s inabllity fe protect his mail
riders, Jeffords had resigned and begun prospecting. Dut first he went
directly to Cochise's Stronghold resoived to work out an arrangement that
would permit him %o szarch for gold in safety. Cochisce was apparently
{mpressed by the calm courage and forthright honesty of this white man.

As a result, Jeffords won immunity from Chiricahua war parties, and, 1n-
¢cidentally, 12id the basis for a life-long frlendenlp with Cochise.9 It
was five years later that Gen. Howard found Jeffords and asked the scout
to lead him b0 Cochise's headquarters. Jeffords consented on condition
that the General go wifthout military escort. Howard agreed, Gulded by
Jeffords, the General and his aide, Capt. J. A, Sladen, accompanied by
two Chiricahuas recruited by Jeffords, set out for Ccchise’s Strongheld

1
in the Dragoon Hountains,west of Fort Bowle. 0

9, Lockwood, Apache Indians, pp., 1ll-~112.

10. O, 0, Howard, My Life and Lxperiences Among Our Hostlle
Indians (Hartford, 1907), pp. 100-195,
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As Howard and his companions crossed the Sulphur Springs Valley, draw-
ing closer to Cochise’s Stronghold, their anxiety intensifled. Time and
again they built a ring of fire on the prairie--five fires to indicate
to Cochlse that five people came in peace, But wha?t their recepiion by
Cochise would be, neither Jeffords nor the Apache guldes would hazard
a guess, One evening two Chiricahua boys appeared at Howard's blvouvac
and led the small party into a secluded mountain valley where a group
of Indians were camped. Next morning Cochise, accompanied by his brother,

' whispered Jeffords

son, and twoe wives, rode ianto camp. "is is the man,’
to Howard. The General waited apprehensively fur Cochise to reveal his
attitude. The Chilef dismounted and, after eabracinc Jeffords, turncd
to Howard, grasped his hand warly, and said, "Bucnos dias, Sehor."
Howard and Cochisc sat on the ground and exchanged views. Cochilse
recited the many wrengs done him by the whifes, dw2lling on the Bascom
affair with particular bitterness, DMNonetheless, he declared, he desired
nothing more than peace. 'Yhe General explained his plan for forming 2
reservation for all Apaches, including the Chirleahuas, on the Rio
Grande, Cochise replied that, for his own part, he 1liked the Rio Grande
country, but that not all of hils pecple held simllar views. To accept
this reservation, he thought, would split the tribe, The Chilefl was
ready with a counter-proposal., "Why not give me Apache Pass?" he asked,
"Give me that and I will protect all the roads., I will see that no-
body's property is taken by Indians." When Howard denurred, Cochlse

persuaded him to stay at the Stronghold for ten days while he summoned
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his lieutenants for consultations., Cochlse then voleed his fear that,

as his people began to assemble, they would be attecked by soldiers.
Howard offered to send Capt., Sladen to Fort Bowie to glve instructions
that would prevent this eventuality, bub Cochise insisted that Howard
himself go, as the soldlers were more likely to obey him. Howard agreed,
made the trip to Bowle, then returned to Cochlse's Stronghold. He stayed
there for elght more days, negotiating with the Apache Chief,

As the Chiricahua sub-chiefs began to arrive, Cochise conferred at
length with them. Howard soon saw that they were nob going to accept his
scheme for locating all Apaches on the Rio Grande, and he reluctantly
abandoned this plan. Ir the end he acceded to Cochise!s 1niftlal suggestion
and promised the Chiricahuas a reservaticn embracing a large part of the
Chiricahua Mountains and the adjoining Sulphur Springs and San Simon
Valleys. Even this proposal was the object of heated contention in the
Chiricahua council. Howard waited in suspense, Finally, after much zcri-
monious debate, Cochise gave him the answer. ‘“Hereafter,” he sald, "the
white man and the Indian are to drink of the same water, eat of the same
bread, and be at peace.” |

The next day, October 13, 1872, Howard and his party, accompanied by
the Apache leaders, set out for Dragoon Springs, where they met Maj. S. &.
Sumner and hls staff from Fort Bowle, In another council, the boundaries
of the new reservation were defined, the agency at Sulphur Springs formally
established, and, to the great delight of the Indians, Tom Jeffords ap-

pointed agent, Howard directed PMaj. Sumner to furnish the tribe with
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rations until the Interior Department could asswie the responsibiiity.
His mission successfully concluded, Howard ieft for Hashington.ll

Howardis success stopped Crock from execubing plans he had formulated
for an offensive against the Chiricahuas. In Septcmber, 1872, while Howard
was still searching for Cochise, Crook had announced a policy of "proceeding

‘ Cochise he regarded as the

at once to punish the incorrigibly hostile,’
most incorrigibly hostile of all, and as a.first move he intended "fo iron
all the wrinkles cut of Cochise'ls band.” Crool: accordingly concentrated
his troops at Camp Grant for a thrust at the Chlricahuas. Relying on spies
in Cochisel!s camp, Crcok plamed to locate and surround the village at
night and strike at dawn in a surprise attack. Before he could carry out
his designs, however, Gen, Houard z@de peace wita thes Chiricahuas, and
Crook was forced to suspend oporations., He turned his attentlion to the
Tonte Basin, and in the historlc campaign that followz2d succecded in sub-
Jjugating the varlous bands of hostile Apache and Yavapsi Indians who
roamed throughout central Arizona. With the Chiricahuas already on a
reservation, Arizona enjoyed a period of relative peace., The peace lasted

un$il after Crook, newly promoted to brigadier general, left the Southwest

in the spring of 1875.12

g

11. Ibid., pp. 187-225. Ralph H, Ogle, "Federal Control of the Western
Apaches, 1908-1886," New ilexico Historical Review, Vol, XV, No, 1 (January,
1940}, p. 52. Howard's report of his mission to Cochise is published in
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1872, pp. 175-178.

12. Schmitt, General George Crool, pp. 176-1C6.
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The Chiricahua Regervation

Under the watehful eyes of the troops at Fort Bowle, the Chirlcahuas
settled down on btheir new reservation, It was a reservatlon in name only.
The Chiricahuas had not been subjugated by force and, in thelr untamed
state, did about as they pleased. A realist, Jeffords recognized that
he served as agernt at the sufferance of his charges. But he belleved that,
as long as he issued rations and refrained from undue interference, the
Chiricahuas would keep the peace. During the remaining fwo years of hls
1ife, Cochise worked guietly with Jéffords to marke the experiment in re-
sepvation 1ife succeed. The close friendship bebtween the ftwo men, and
Cochise's own great influence with his people, comdined to keep the In-
dians reasonably restrained. Arizona settlers expressed amazement that
the old chief had actually kept his word, and the sen of the "Tueson
Ring"--merchants who had been meking enormous profits from Army contracts
during the years of hostility--barely concealed thelr discomfiture.

Cochise fell i1l early in 1874, and on June 8 he died,'’ The Chiri-
cahuas selected Taza, Cochise's eldest son, as their new chiaf. He carried
on the peaceful polley cemented by Cochise and Gen. Howard, and worked
closely with Jeffords teo govern the Chirieahuas in the tradition of hls
father. But while he ruled creditably, Taza was nelither the statesaan

nor the leader that Cochise had been. If Jeffords had planned to tighten

13. The last Interview between Jeffords and Cochise is lnterestingly
desc:ibed in Lockwood, Apache Indians, pp. 128-12¢6, Cochise was buried
somewhere in his Dragoon Fountain Strongheld, Jeffords was probably
the only white man who knew where the grave was located, and he carried
the secret to his death.
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his control of the Indians, Cochise!s death must have ended his hopes.

Between 1872 and 1876 Jeffords found it necessary to move the agency
headquarters twice. The original agency established by Gen. Howard had
peen located at Sulphur Springs. In Septeuber, 1873, howsver, Jeffords
moved the tribe across the Chiricahua Mountains to San Simon In search of
better land for agricultural purposes. Because of the prevalence of malaria,
this location proved undesirable, and two months later an officer of the
Indian Bureau directed that the agency be established in Pinery Canyon,
The new site wag convenient %o Apache Pass, and the Chlricahua hueks soon
learned that emlgrants and freighters travelling through the pass were
only too anxious to trade whiskey for horses, a transaction agreeable to
both parties but demnoralizing to the Indians. In order t¢ exercise more
rigid surveillance, Jeffords in the summer of 1875 again moved the agency,
erecting his headquarters in Apache Pass near Fort Bowle, Here the agency
remained until the abolition of the Chiricahua Reservation.lq

Meanwhile, friction had been steadily mounting between Jeffords and
his superiors, Officials of the Indian Bureau wanted the Chiricahuas
placed under rigild control, made self-supporting, and started on the road
to civilization., Jeffords regarded this approach as visionary, and con-

tinued the system of loose management that he had inaugurated in 1872,

14, Report of the Secretary of the Interior, 1874, pp. 595-590;
1876, p. 721.
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As a result the Indian Bureau, almost from the beginning, had denied him
the support and cooperation to which he was entitled. In fact, ab times

he was reduced to purchasing supplies for the tribe ocut of his own pocket.
The Bureau was also growing more and more dissatlsfied with the locatlon

of the Chiricahus Reservation. It bordered on rexico, and to it gravitated
the unruly spirits of the San Carlos, White tvuntain, and Tularcsa Reser-
vations, Joined by Chiricahua incorriglbles, they indulged in the favorite
Apache sport of raiding vexican settlements. Try @s he wight, Jeffords
never succesded 1n entirely stopping this activity.l5 By 1876, the offi-
ctals in Washington were only walting for an excuse not only to rid them-
selves of Jeffords bub slso to move the Chiricahwas wway from the border

to a location where more effective control couid be exzrcised.

The Chiricazhua Removal

The Bureau found its excuse 1n the spring of 1876. The beef quota
for the Chiricahuz Reservetion had been cui, and rations beecame so scarce
that, in February of that year, Jeffords permitted part of the tribe o
move to the Iragoon Hountains in order to augment the food supply by hunting
wild game. While camped in the mountains a guarrel developed among some
of the Indians, and two men and a child were killed. The tribe broke into
factions., Taza took most of the peopie back to the agency in Apache Pass,

but Skinya, with about twelve famllies, remdined in the Dragoon Mountains,

15. Ogle, "Federal Control of the Western Apaches," pp. 202-208.




In March, a few warriors from Skinyals band made a rald into Mexico
and returned with some stolen gold. Pionsenay, Skinya's brother, got
drunk on whiskey bought with the gold from a whife man named Rogers, who
operated a trading post at Sulphur Springs. In his intoxicated condition,
Plonsenay killed two of his sisters. Then he returned to Rogers' trading
post. When Rogers refused fo sell him more whiskey, Plonsenay murdered
hin and his assistant. Joined by other discontented bucks, he committed
a series of depredatlons in the San Fedro Valley., With a $roop of cavalry
from Fort Bowle, Jeffords set oub in pursuit of the cutlaws. The soldiers
discovered Skinva's band fortified in the San Josg dountalns. After ex-
changing a few shots, the cavalry commander, Lt. Austin Henely, decided
that an assault would be too costly and took his men back to Fort Bowle.
Jeffords informed Taza tha®, henceforth, all Apaches found west of the
Chiricahua Mountains would be considered hostile, and the troops from Fort
Bowie combed the Sulphur Springs Valley and the Dragoon Mountains for the
renegades.l6

The outbreak of violence led the Governor of Arizona Territory to
denounce the Chiricahuas and their agent and demand that the Interior
Department remove these Indlans from the veservation. A4s a result, the
agent at San Carlos Reservation, John P. Clum, was ordered early in iy,
1876 to go to the Apache Pass agency, suspend Jeffords, and move the

Chiricahuas to San Carlos. Clum demanded military support, and Brig.

16. 1Ibid., pp. 235-236, Lockwood, Apache Indians, pp. 215+216.
Post Returns, April, 1876, cited in iurray, History of Fory Bowile,

pp, 196-197.
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Gen. August V. Kaubtz, Crookis successor, concentrated ten troops of cavairy

-

and two companies of Indian scouts at Fort Bowie.lf

Meanwhile, the Chiricahuas, aware of the Goverument's pians for theilr
removal, held a counclil on the night of June 4, Bkinya and Pionsenay de-
manded that the Chiricaluas again go to war with the whites. Taza and
Nachez, Cochise's younger son, argued for peace and submission, A fight
broke out in which Skinra was killed and Pionsenay and Taza were wounded.,
Only the arrival of soldiers from Fort Bowle restored crder, Shortly
afterward, Agent Clum reached Fort Bowie. He called a council with the
Chiricahuas and expiained the necessity for the Govermsent's action.

Taza readily agreed to the removal of his peopie to the San Carlos Reser-
vatlon, and on June 12 Clum and 325 Chirlcahuas, ccorted by Gen. Kautz's
soldiers, left Fort Bowle for San Carlos. The Chiricahua Reservation was

18

promptly restored to the public domain.

17. Jchn P. Clum, fGeronimo,“ New Mexico Histerieal Review, Vol,
11I, No. 1 (Janwary, 1928), pp. 8-i7.

18, 1Ibid., pp. 14-18. Record of Medleal History of Post Fort 3owie,
Arizona Territory, June, 1876, cited in Iurray, History of Fort Bowie,
pp. 199-200, Report of the Secretary of the Interior, 1570, p. 39c.
Pionsenay surrendered to Clum, and hls wound was dressed by the surgeon
at Fort Bowie. He subsequently escaped from a deputy sheriff taking
him to Tuesen for c¢ivil trial.
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Not a3ll of the Chiricahuss, however, nad followed Taza, Geroninmo,
Juh, and Noglee, leaders of a band that spent most of its time ralding in
Mexico, remained pehind, They began a reign of terror, nurder, and destruc-
tion that ravaged southeastern Arlzona and recalled memorles of the days
before Cochise made pezce. Gen. Kaubz and his successor, Briz. Gen.
Orlando B. Willcox, dirccited sustained operablons against these Indlans
for the ncxt three years, Troops from Fort Bewle and the newly founded
Camp Huachuca took the field. They scoured the Chiricahua and Dragoon
Mountalns, skirmishing frequently with the Indiens bub caly occasionally
bringing on a declsive ergagezent.

Lt. Austin Henely and Lt. John A. Rucker, statloncd at Fort Bowie,
were especially active in hunbing down the Chiricahuas. In January, 1877,
Lt. Rucker led fifty-two soldiers and thirty-four Indlan scouts in an as-
sault on a hostile cncampment in New Mexicolz Liedendorf Mountains. The
Indians losh, in addifion To caap cqguipage and thelr entire herd of stock,
ten men kllled and & number wounded. % The following December, Rucker again
engoged a band of wenegades in Hew sexico and inflicted even greater 10sses

20

on the marauding hostiles, Lt, Henely, meanwhiie, had been actively

scoubing the region west of Fort Bowle; on one of his scouts b travelled

e

19, Post Returns, Jan., 1677, cited In hurray, Hisbtory of Fort
Bowie, p. 203.

—
]
1

2. Post Returms, Dec., 1077, in i2id., pp. 20:-20



450 miles and penctrated iexico as far south as Janos. The vigorous opera-
tions of the fteam of Ruciker and Henely cane to a tragic end in the summer
of 1376. Hear Camp Supply, which had been established in the mountains
soufth of Fort Bowle to facllltate scouting operations, Henely was attempi-
ing to cross & fliooded canyon when the raging Sorrent swepti hila uvnder.,
Rucker tried to save him, but both officers wer: drowned. They were buried

o

in the post cemetery at Fort Bowile on July 1%, and the nz.ie of the supply
base was changed from Gy Suppiy to Camp John A, Pucler.

vilitary operatlons continued Por anoiher year. Finalliy, late in
1879, Geronimo and Jub, largesly through the efforts of Tom Jeffords and
Lt. H, L, Haslell, were indiced To surrender, With 175 followers, these
Apache leaders arrived at Fort Bowic on December 29. £ w2l laber thney were

escorted to San Carios and seivtled on thzt rescpvation. DBut Fort Bowie had

7]
not seen the last of Goronimo.

21. FPost Reburns, July, 1978; Hedica. Hlstory, July, 1378, in
ibid., pp. 207-2¢3.

22. Tost Returns, Dec,, 1579, in 1 ide, DR, 2L0-2:1.



Part IV

THE GERCHIMO WAR

For two vesrs after Goronimo surrendered, the Chiricshuas remained
at peace. In feact, except for the fugitives, the zmajority of the tribe had
bzen llving quiebly on tie San Cariosc Reservation slinge thelr removal in
1876. They had install:d a network of irrigation ditches and were growing
wheat, barley, and corn. Taza had dled during a trip Lo Yashington, and,
after theilr surrcnder, Geronimo znd Hachez, Taza's youngsr brother, galned
stature in the teibe.

The peaceful disposition of the Chiricahuas afforded tiwe soldlers at
Fort Bowle 1ittle velisef from fleld duty., During U0 and psrt of 13C1
units from Bowle wers aimost constantliy in fthue fieid assisting troops from
New Mexlco in Inc campaign against Vietorio and his successor, Nana, whose
Warn Springs Apaches were tevrorizing HNew dezico and Chihuahua, After the
death of Victorio In a battle with Mexican troops, this band ceassd to bhe
much more than a menace that required continuvous patrolling of the inter-
national boundary. Yhile fhe soldiers were occupied with Vietorio, however,
trouble was brewing in thelir rear thet was soon £o erupt in another bloody

war with the Chiriezhuss.

i

The Chiricahua Cutbroa¥ of 1331

For several years, the San Carlos Reservation had suffered assgaults on
its boundaries by land-hungry whites, Miners crossad the line from the

west in inereasing nunbers. NMormon colonists settled on the eastern boundery,



diverted water from the Gila River to irrigate their lands, and produced a
water shortage on the reservation that caused some of the Apache crops vo
fail. Mcre Hormons swarmed into the country west of Fort Apache. As a

final blow, the discovery of coal in the southern part of the reservation
stinvlated an influx of whites from the south. Exposed to covetous white

men from every direction, the Indians grew increasingly restless.

)

Tn this frame of wind, mcny Apaches fell under the influence of @
nedicine man naned Makeidoklini, whose wmysticel feachings and prophecies
ereated great excitement., The agent callied oa The Army for help, and Col.
E, A, Carr, comnending ncerby Fort Apache, was ordered to arrest Nakaldo-
klini. On August 3¢, 1531, Cel. Carr led elghiy-fiva cavalryzen and twenty-
three Apache scouts to the camp of the medicine man on Cibicue Creck and
toolr him into custody. The arrest precipitated a vigorous attack on Carr's
cormand by about one hundred heavily arned warriors, Sorpe of the scoutbs,
whom Halaidoklinifs doctrine had infectad, revolted, shol down & captain
and six scldiers, then joined the hostiles, During the struggle, Nakaido-
klini was killed by his guard. Carr's comaand repulsed the assailants,
but next morning, while Carr was still in the fleld, they Joined with other
disaffected bands and attaclied Fort Apache. The garrison sucecessliully with-
stocod the asssult, and the Indians finally withdrew.l

Alarpmed at the prospect of another general war Wit the Apaches, the
Arnmy rushed reinforcements, including units from Fort Bowie, fo Carr's

assistance, Although the Indiang involved in the Cilulcve affair were

1. Ogle, "Federal Control of ‘estern Apaches,” pp. 295-295.
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largely Coyotero Apaches, the Chiricahuas, who lived in the vicinlty of
Fort Apache, grew increasingly apprehensive as they watched mere and more
soldiers arrive at the fort and go into camp. A spate of rumors ran through
the tribe like a prairie fire, and, when bthe agency police began to arrest
the leaders of the Cibicue revolt, the Chiricahues beoame thoroughly fright-
ened, On September 30, seventy-four Chiricahuas, including Geronlmo, Nachez,
Chato, and Juh, fled the reservation and heacded for Mexico. Uespite military
efforts to apprehend them, they made good their eseape. In the Slerra JRdres,
the fugitives Joinad olid Nana and the remnant of Victoriols Warm Springs band,
Troops from Fort Dowle, once more comwanded by Capt. Reuben F, Bernard, fanned
out to patrol the border and nrevernt ralding parties from entering the United
States.®

Nothing was heard of the renegades until the following spring. In April,
1882, Chato and Hachez, with a party of warriors, siipped through the screen
of cavairy patrois and raiced settlemunts in frizona. They rode as far north
as San Carlos, vhere they forced Loco and his band to leave the ressrvation
and Join their vace for the Sierra Madre sapctuary. ¥ith Loco, the hostile
party now numbered 70C people. They clashed with Col. G. A. Forsyth near
Stein's Peak in the Feloncillo Hountains, bub escaped with siall loss. A
cormané under Capt, T. C. Tupper, which included a troop of cavalry and a

company of Indian scouts froa Fort Bowle, next interccpted the Apaches in
B ’ p

2, TIbid., pp. 295-300. Report of the Sccretary of War, 18¢l,
T




Mexico several miles south of the border, but again they cluded capture.
Joining forces, Tupper and Forsyth pursued the Apaches deep into Fexico
and pushed thes into an ambush prepared by a iargs Mexican force. The
vewicans willed a hundred Indians and the rest fled inte the Sierra radres,
Azain the renesades were safely beyond the reach of the Army, and patrols
from Fort Bowie reswied Sheir scouting operations along the Hexican

3

border,

Crook in the Saddle

It was now obvious to aubthorities in Washington that they had another
full scale Apache war on thelr hends. Another costly campaign would have

to be launched. As a prelimirary step, the United States openea discussions

with Hexico on the Apache provlem. On July 29, 1332, the two governments

signed an agreeament that permitied regular troops of either country to
eross the international boundary when in close pursult of hostile Incliarﬂ.:s.l‘L
Aithough U.S. forces had occaslenally crossed the border, they had done So
illegally. Nouw, the legel barrier rexoved, Amerlcan troops were free to
conduct operations aimed at the Apache sanctuary in the heart of the Sierra
Jadre Mountains,

A second imporiant preliminavy step came on September 4. DBrig. Gen.
George Crook was reassigned to command the Depsrtment of Arizona. With

characteristic determinstion, he abtitacked his problen immediately. iiounted

3., Ogle, "Federal Control of iestern Apachaes,’ pp. 303-30k,

4, U. S. Statutes at Large, Vol, XXII, p. &i'%.




on his celebrabed nule, Apache, he rode about the department felking with

the Indians. He quickly came to the conclusion that they had bsen robbed,
cheated, and in general most shamefuily abused by the agents of The Indian
Bureau. In fact, he reported, the Apaches "had displayed reuarkable fore-
bearance in rer@ining at peace."5 But the damage had bcen done, and Crook

next set about irnroving the nanage.ent of San Carioes aid preparing for an
offensive against the renegades in ilexico.

Crook's first move was to reorganize the administration of the Szn
Carlos Reservation. In Hovemher, 13L2, he callzd the reservation Indians
into council and outiined for them the new systew. No longer would they
have to live ncar the azency and report freguentiy for roll call. Hence-
forth, they would be free to settle wherever on the reservation they chose,
How that the Apaches could szek oub better lands, Crooir told them, they
would be expected to malie a more serious attempy av faruing and self-support.
Although the civilian agent aud nis sbtafl would centvinue to perform thelr
previous funchbions, the Indians would alseo be accountable to military
agentg--Capt. Emiet Crawford at San Carlos and Lt. Charles 3, Gatewood at
Fort Apache. Lt. Britton Davis was assigned fo &ssist Crawford and Lt.
Hamilton Roach to zssist Gatewcod. These two officers were Lo recrult

-

X . . 0
and command conpanies of native scouts that would prescrve the peace.

5. Report of the Secretary of War, 1883, p.

Pl

. Ibid. Britton Davis, Tue Truth LAbout Geronimo (lew Haven, 1929},
p. 30. Lockwood, Apache Indians, p. 2ui.

O




Crook next turncd his attention to the task of organizing an expedi-
sonn to ferret the renegade Chiricalwas out of the Sierra Madre Mountailns,
His previous exnerience in Arizona had taught him that It tooi an Apache to

catch an Apache. Regular troops proved too cumberscue for the type of
memtain and dosort warfare at which the Apaches excelled, Having decided

to rely on Indian

Ul

a5 tha packbone of his striklnz coluwmn, Crook reorgan-
ized the Lpache scout corps and recrulied it to full strength. Sirilled
frontiersaien who hiad scryed Crook hefore turped up to eniist as white
scouts, Among thez were Al Jieber, Sam Bowuan, and fLrenie telIntosh.

The leading exponent of mule trains for supply btransport, Crooy devoted

much attention to orzanizing his pack trains., Under his old pasclmaster,

e
1

Ton Moore, they ware brought to peaiz efflciciey.’

Before Crools's expeditlon could got uncer way, the Chirleahua rene-
gades struck again., In iBrch, 1503, while Gerenimo raided for horses in
Sonora, Chato and twenty-six warriors crossed the iatermmbtlonal boundary
and blazed a bloosdy trail across southern Arizona. The garrison at TFort
Bowie tried to intercept him, TFatrols combed the Chlricanua Hountzins
and the Sulphur Springs and San Simon Valleys. Troops {rom other forts
also took the fisid to search for the ralders. In six days, however,

Chato and his nen rode 400 miles, killed twenty-six setilers, and disap-

~

+

. . . . - R d
peared Ilnto llexico without being sighted by a singie soidier,

7. Schmitt, General George Crock, p. 245,

8. Ogle, "Federal Control of Western Apaches,” pp. 308-309, Post
Returns, March, 18%%, cited in iurray, History of Fort Dowie, p. 221,




For Crook, Chato's raid produced one beneficial result., One of
Chato's warrlors, whon the trocps later dubbed "Peaches,” deserted his
conrades and surrendered at San Carlos, He offered to gulde Crooit's
expedition in%o the Sierra lecres and help find the Cairleahua canp,

Crook accepted his services, and early in May, 1357, crossed the border
with 193 Apache scouis under Capt, Ewmet Crawford and a troop of the
Sixth Cavalry under Capt, Adna R. Chafice.

Guided by Feaches, the column rnarched to the hiadiosters of the Yaqul
River. Crawford's scouts scoured the rugged wilderness of the Sierra
adres, and orn iy 15 surprised Chatols canp. Thoy #illed nine warriors
and captured several childrea, but The rewainder of Lie villagers scav-
tercd into the mountainz, Three days later, however, Chihuahua appeared at
Crook's camp to confer with the Goneral, One by one, Georonimo, Chato,
Hachez, and other renegade leaders followed Chihuvahua'!s example and cane
1n to talk, That the mountzing of lexico no longer offered a secure naven
had come as a frighbening revelation to the hostiles, and they declared
their readiness to bz forgiven and returned to the reservatvion. Crook
sstutely inforsed then that he was really not particulariy anxilous to make
peace. DMexican forees, he sald, were even then closing in on the Apache
stronghold and, no doubt, would socn solve the whole problem by killing all
of the renegades. Alarmed, the Chiricahuas begged Creok o accept thelr
surrender and take thern bacik to San Carles, With & siow of reluciance,
the General finaily consented. Escorted by Crauford and his scouts, 325

@]
Chiricshua and Yarm Springs Apaches reached San Carlos on June 24,

9, Report of the Secrztary of War, 1385, pp. 173-175. John G.
Bourke, On the Border with Crook (New York, 18%1}, pp. 452-454, Schmitt,
General George Grook, pp. 240-258, Davis, Truth About Geronlamo, pp. 67-70.
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Not all of the hostiles had accompanied Crewford to San Carlos. The
most troublesone of the renegade lezders, in facv, nad tarried in ['exico
on the prevext that thelr widely scattered bands would have Lo assenbie.

' Pive moons

They had promised to repert at the agency in "tuo moons,'
later they were still in ‘kexico, and the Arizona neuwspapers had bejun a
virulent ediforizl campalgn berabing Crock for his failurc to bring in

5311l of the hostiles, In Ortober, 2003, Pherefors, Croox ordered Li,

Britton Davis and his compuny of Apaclhie scouts Lo locate the proerastinating
Chiricahuas and return then fo San Curlos. Camplng near the border, Davis
gent scouts into lioxico %o seerch for the reregndes., Finally, Naclez and
Zele brought ftheir people in and Iavis, assisted by troops from Fort Bowle,
escorted them to the reservation. In January, 1204, he returned, found
Chato and Fangas (son of iangas Coloradas), and took them %o the agency.
Only Geronimo and his band now remcined in Mexleco, &nd, for a tniré tlue,
Davis camped on the border, 8ix weeks of scoubing at last brought Geronlmo
and his band, trailing & herd of 35C cattle stolen from lexican rancuers,
to Davis! caap on tre border. On the way o San Carloes, a U.8. Marshal

and a possc of cowboys 8itemptad to arrest Geronimo and take him to Tucson
for civil trisl. Aided oy a West Point classmate from Fort Bowle, how-
ever, Davis tricked the Marshal snd eluded the posse. With Geronimo

safely settled at San Carlos, the Chiricahuas once e were all at peace.

10, Davis, Truth Avovt Gercoaime, pp. T7-1Cl. HReport of the
Secretary of War, LoUd, p. 1
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The Qutbreak of 1885

From the spring of 1883, when the hostiles agreed to malke peace,
until the spring of 1505 Arizona again enjoryed a brief respite from Apache

gepredations. On {he veservation, however, the Chiricahuas found then-

an

}_}o

selves caught in a power striggie betwezn their milltary and civii

4

agents, PFollowirg the gurrenfer of the renegodes, the decerefarias of Har
and the Interior had held extended discussions that finally, on July 7,
1803, culminated in a jo‘nt aemorandmm that gavs Crock police conbrol of
-1 I 1 11

all the 8an Carlios Apesches.

This mencrandu: sclved no problens, for the old curse of divided
autherity suill preveilsd. When the mllitary 2gents, Cupt, Crawford and
Lt, Gatewood, attcupied Yo extend thelir control of the Indians in accord-

S R

a4

-

ance with the eagreement of July 7, the civilicn aduinistrators, prodd

.

by thelr superiors, resisted tnis encrocachnent on their customary suthority

Sensing the conflict, the Indlans sought to play off one agent against the
otier, and becane irereasingly difficult to control. They openly defied

the prohibition asainst tizvin-drinking and wife-beating, and virtually

. . , 12
dared the military to stop then.

Condivions went from bad to worse, until on lay 15, 1C35, the climax
finally ceae, Yollowlng a glorious tizwin drunk, Geronimo, Hatchez, and

Nana, accompanied by foriy-two warriors and ninety-two woen and chlildren,

fled the reservation and once mere headed for !erico. Soldines frow Forts

11. Report of the Secretary of Yar, 13582, . 174,

12, Dovis, Truth About Geronimo, pp. 133-143. Ogle, "Federal
Control of Western Apaches,’ pp. 514-521.
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Bowie, Thomas, Huachuca, and Camp Grant enactbed the famlliar routine of
spreading out to intercept the fugitives, Bubt the fpaches, with Their
masterful evasive tactics, slipped safely scross the border and lost thoue

selves in the mountains. Once again the troops looked forward to the
13
s.

dreaded ordeal of a canp2ign in the forbidding Sicrra faire
Lt. Gen. P. H. Snuevicdan, comnmending the Lruy, ordered an lmsediate
and energetic caanaign to round uvp the rencgades. On June §; he wired
Crook authority to eriist an additional 200 Indlan scouls, and instrucied
nin to establish headguarters on or near the Southern Pacific Railrcad.
Crook chose Fort Douie, wiricl: was thirteen miles Ifroa Bowile Station and
at the sawe tise convenient 5o the field of operations. On June 11 Crook
14
arrived at the fort.” From that day until the final capitulation of
Geronlino in Septenber, 1834, Fort Devle was the base frou which three
successive canpalgns and a multitude of small supporting expeditions were

mounted azainst the Chiricalhmias in lexico.

Opersticng of Crawlord and Davis

The reciprocal agreenent wlth !kexico which peimitied U.S. troops Lo
pursue hestile Indians sonth of the border had expired. 3ut Crook con-
ferred with the governor of Sonora and obtained his coisent to Aacrican

operations in the Sierra Madre Mountains. He tiien dispatched two forces

13. Report of the Secresary of i¥ar, 1800, pp. 147-143. Davis,
£ o H i
Truth About Geronimo, pp. IHH-151,

14. Report of the Secretary of Mur, 1386, p, 14, Post Reburnms,
June, 1885, cited in Murray, History of Fort Bowie, p. 220,
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of Indian scouts into Mexico, one under Capbt. Zmmet Crawford and Ly, Britton

I

Davis, the other under Capt. Wirt Davis and Lt. Charies B. Gatewood. He
also stationed debacnments of cavalry at virtually every wabter hole on the

southern porders of Arizona and llew Mexico o prevent tne renesades fron

T

. . 1
re-entering tre United States, 7
Throughout the swmar ané avbuwan of 2305, Crawford and Wirt Davis
pursted the Chiricahwas with the utiest femacity, Several times, the
-

Avache scouts surprised the hostile camps in the Sierya kHadres. In cach

engagenent they destroyed much equiprent, bub never succaeded in fighting
a decisive action., Frushed ocus of the Sierra izdres by the persistent
trailing of the %two scout colunns, the hostiles drifited back towards the
vorder. Dusgpibe the string of mili%tary outposts, one Land siipped into

the United Sitates al Guadalupe Canyon. Followed closcly by Crawford and
Wirt Davis, the raiders re-crossed the border and lost thilr pursuers in
Chihuahua. Sxhausted, the striking colwmns reporied Lo Crook at Fort Boule

-
in Octoher, 132%, and preparations were proapbly begun for a nev campalign,

In Wovember, while Crzwford and Davis were refitting theiyr commands,
Cnihuahuals brother, Josanie, led a raiding party of ten warrlors into the

United Stztes. During the period of ong ionbh, he rode 1,200 miles through

15, Report of the Secrebtary of uar, 1880, p. 149, Schmitt, General
George Crook, pp. 250-257.

16, Report of tue Seeretary of War, 1800, pp. 15C-151. Davis,
Truth About Geronimo, pp. 157-395. H. W. Daly, "The Geronimo Campaign,’
Krizona Tistorical Review, Vol, IXI, Ko, 2 (July, 1y30), pp. 25-44, Daly
wag Crawfordls paclmastor.




a region patroiled by eighty-three companies of solciers, #ll1lled thiriy-
eiznt whites, captured and wore out 250 horses, and escaped into Fexico

E b 17 B +* - 1. 1 _ = 1 i
with the losg of one man, The obyiouz seriousness of the situation brought
Gen. Sheridan himself Lo Fort Bowie te confer with Crook. Sheridan arrived
on Noveuber 27, iirt Davis had already taken the fleld and Crawford left

10

the day Sheridan srrived.”  The Lieutenant General spparently could of Ter
f2u sugcestions for improving Croolt's anagement of the campai n, for the
second Sierra [Bdre ezpecition was conducted In about tie sane fashion as
the first. Indian scouts, led by whitz officcrs and relying on muic trains
to transport suppiies, combed the mountains of Sonora in search of the rerie-

pades, To Crawford!s scouts fell the najor share of the fighiting.

The Death of Crawford

Cant. Crauford, assisted by Lt, tarlon ». laus, Lo, M. E. Shlpp, and
Tom Horn as chief scout, led his men through alimost Lupenctrable aTretches
of the mountain wilderness of Sonora, uhile Crook, ignoring Sheridan's
anxious telegraphic renuesis for informatlen, enjoyed Christias eggnog with
Capt. Markland at Fort Bowie, Crawford's scouts seaprched the Sierra ladres
for the trail of %the hostiles. Some 200 miles souvth of the border they
finally picked up the trail and, suffering froa exhaustion and bitterly
s}

cold weather, followed LU to the hidden renegade camp. Cn Janvepy 10,

1885, Crawford attazied the Indien viliage, only to find that the pegupants

17. Ogle, "Federal Control of esbern dpaches,” pp. 325-.4+.

13. Report of tie Sceretary of YWar, 18380, pp. 7-9, 7.
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nad discovered his approach and scattered into the mountains. ‘hile the
officers were lamenting their misfortune, however, an Apache woman returned
to the camp with word that Ceronimo and Nachez wished o talk with Crawford
the following day. Crawford agrecd, and went into caap to await the sched-
uled hour,

Crawford was dessincd never to keep his appoinbuent. At dezwn The next
norning a large force of lMexiean lrvegular Troops launched a szurprise attack
on the bivouae of the scouts. Crawford fell, moritally wounded, While Geron-
imo and nis pecple gleefully watched the speciacle Iron surrounding heights,
the Apache scouts end lexican troops exchanged fire for two hours. Then the
Mexicans fell bacl and cccupled sbrong dufensive positions. ‘hile the two
forces confronted eachi cther menacingly, Lé. ¥eus, who had succeeded Crauford
in command, convinced the surviving Mexican officers of their mistake,

gt Maus now found himself in an untenable position, Deep 1n unfriendly
country, faced by hostile fpaches and suspiclous iexican troops, his an-
munition and food virtually exihausted, iaus decided to return to Fort Dbowile,
At the end of the First day's march, snother woman from Gerenimo's band
case to Maus and sz2id taat the Chiricahuz leaders still wanted to talk. Two
days later, iAus, unarmed, set with Geroninge, Machez, Wang, and Chilhuahua,
Geronimo said that he wished to discuss the possibiiity of surrender with
Gen. Crook personally, and for that purpose woull umeet with him near Sen
Berrnarcino in "two moons." As evidence of good falth, Geronimo surrendered
nine people, including his own and Hachez's wife and oid ilana, to act as

hostages. Leaving C.pt. Crawford’s body in the care of the Presidente of

LAY
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Macori, fEus hurriced norih o report to rool:, 19

he Conference ab Canon de 1os Pabudes

Lt. 'mus reached the border on Fepruary 1, .85, and, after cormuni-
cating with Crook at Fort Bowle, was ordered soubth again ©o meet the hostiles
and escort then Lo the conference site. He camnped on tire Sen Bernardino

iver, about ften miles soubth of the border, untii iapeh 13, when the rene-
gades finally appeared, Faus atSerpted to parsuace Gzronime t0 sccompsny him
to Fort Bowie and there have his tallk with Croci. Dut the Chiricahua chilef-
fain would go no further north than the Canon ¢2 los Rabudcs, about twelve

, , e A en - 20
miles from the boraer, whsre he insisted thet the Goneral neet nim.

19, Haus' Report, Feb. 25, 1560, in ibid., pp. 195-16C, See also
Faus® Narrative in Helson A, Mtles, Tersons!l Qecollections and Obsarvations
of Nelson A, Miles (Chicage, 150}, pp. &5u-#u7, Gcwiordts pody was
later brought %o Fort Bowie and, escorted by Capt. Jonn G, Bourke, taken
to Crawford's nore in Hebrasia for nermanent iunsevucnt, The 3tate Depart-

ment took up the matter of the atfack on Crawford with tne texlcan Govern-
ment. Far from aanc;leLglng responsibility, Hexico denied thai any attack
had taken place end demaniad Indeunity payments from the United States for
long list of depredations alleged to have been committed by Crewford's

scouts. Report of the Secretary of Var, 1885, p. 10C.

20, aus' Narrative in HMiles, Personal Recolisctions, p. o7,
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On Mareh 2%, therefore, Gen. Crook left Fort Bowle for the Canon de
los Embudos. He was accompanied by his aides, Capt. John G. Bourke and

e

Capt., Charles Roberts, and by Caept. Roberts! thirteen-jeer-old son. Crook
also took with him scveral interpretors and two frisucly Chiricahuas of
soume influence with the hosiiles, Ka-g-ten-a and nlchise, The :ayor of
Tucson and a pnotegrapher from Tombstonz later oined the party. Reaching
the canyon the next day, Crooir found the Chiricahuas caiped 500 yards from
Haus in an iroregnable defensive position atop a lava covored hill, "A

full brigade,” noted Cant. Bourke, "cowdd not cdrive cub that 1ivtle

. 2L
garrison,"”

The three-cay balk began on March 2%, 1355, Crook's party and the
Chiricahua leacers seated thenselves in a wooded ravine, Filrst Chihuahua
and then Ceronimo launched seoningly endliess harangucs reciting the wrongs
done them by their former agents and protasiing their own conplete innocence.
Crook arguad at length with Garoripo aboubt his behaviopr at San Carics.
Finally, he bluntly deciarzd, "Evervything vou ¢id on the reservation is
Ynown. There 1s no use for you to try and talk nonsense. I am no child,
You must male up your oun mind whether you willl stay out on Lhe warpath or

surrender uncondibionzlly., If you stay out, I'3L lecp after you and kill

21. Bourke, On the Border with Crook, pp. &72-47+. Schiict, General
George Crool:, p. 20J,




22
the last one, if it taes fifty years,”

The Indians retired to their cemp and, throughoubt the nont day, de-
baved the guestion of wiconditional surrvender. Ka-no-tsn-a and Alchise
clrculated anong the hosilies exerting their influence in favor of capitu-
lation. During the day Crook apparently saw that he could not hope for un-
conditional surrendir, and cormmunicated fto the ncstiles the proposal that
was later to produce so mueh confusion and controvers;y., e would accspt
thelir surrender on condition that they be confined in the EBast for not aore
than two wears. They cculd tale their families with the: ir they wished,
Nana, who was too old to cause further trouble, would be per:itied to remzin
at Fcrt Apache with the other Chirlecahuvas. This propesisicon the renegade
leaders accepled, and in 2 second conference on March £% Chilmahua, Nachez,
and, finally, Geroniso each ede 2 speech formally surrendering to Crool.
The General proaptly wrots 2 dispateh to Sheridsn detailing the resulis of
the meating and senc it bHy covrisr To Fort Bowle for transaission to Wash-
ington., Harly the next morning he started for Beowiz himself
Ieus to escont the Chiricakhuas to the I‘Or%.23

As Crooix and nis stafl rode north towards Fort Bowle, they met Geronine,
Haechez, and several other Chiricziwas riding in the opposite dirsction, reor-
ing drunk. During the night they had hought mesecal from a man naned Tribolet,

who lived on a ranch Just soubh of the border, How Sliey wore vefurning to
i ~of

22. The transceript of the conference, as recorded by Capt. Bourke,
together wilth perbinent correspondence betueen C:OGn GG chrxﬂaﬁ, is re-
procduced in Seznate Docuwients, 5lst Cong., 1st sess., No. 80. Iifueh of it

-

is reproduced in Davis, Trubh About Geronimo, pp. 19¢-21i2,

23. Bourke, On the Border with Crook, po. B70-479. Schmitt, General
[nEa Y e

George Crook, p. 201, Crock te Sheridan, kBrch 27, 106340, reproduced in
Davis, Truth Abcut Geronime, pp. 199-200.
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camp. Crook continued on to Fort Bowle, arriving on March Zg.zu Lt.

Haus went to the Chiricahua canmp ¥p get his charges started for Fort
Bowie, He found wost of the men drunk and in ugly hwnor, Late in the
day they moved the camp ten miles, but confinued to drink heavily.
While drunk, Nachez snot his wife. Although ¥aus sent L%, Shipp to
destroy Tribolet's stock of mescal, the damage had been done, During
the night, Geronimo and Hachesz, with twenty wuen, thirteen women, and
two children, 1lecft the camp and struck for the Siesrra Madres, Chihuahua,
Nana, and about & dozen men, with forty-seven wonen and children, re-
mained behind., aus detailed Lt, 3, L, Faison to escori fthese Indians
to Port Bowie, and with LE, Shipp and the scouss started in pursuit.
The trail, as anticipated, led into the heart of tihe mountains., The
terrain became almost inmpessable and, when ¥aus discovered that the
fugitives had killed their horses and scattered on foobt, he gave up

the chase and returned to Fort Bowle, reporting to Crook on April 5.29

The Reslaceaent of Crock

When Lt. Faus reaches Fort Bowle, Crook had already completed the
exchange of telegraas with Cen, Sheridan that terninated his services in
26 .
Arizona. Enmity seems to have been developing between the two generals

for several months, The Lieutenant General, in many ways that nmust have

24, Schmitt, General George Crook, p. 251. Bourke, On the Border
with Crook, pp. L60-~481,

25, baus! Narrative in ¥iles, Personal Recollections, pp. HOG-U470,

26. With the exception of one important telegraa, whiech is repro-
duced in DPavis, Truth About Geronimo, pp. 214-215, these telegrans were
all yeproduced in .iiles, Personal Recollections, pp, B71-476, They were
all dated between iarch 30 and April 3, 1u80.
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irritated Crook inbensely, had deaonstrated his lack of understanding of
the problems involved in warfare against the Apaches, ioreover, he had
barely concealed his distrust of the Apache scouts, whom Crook regarded 4s
the only troops that could possibly track down the rensgades.

Crook!s teolegram outlining the teris on which he nad accepted the
Chiricahua surrender produced consternation in Hashington. Presicdent
Cleveland, in fact, refused to approve the terms. hecordingly, Gen.
Sheridan on March 30 wired Crook that the President insisted on uncondi-
tional surrender. Croock was lastructed to reopen negotiatiens and secure
such a surrender. He was also to "take every precaution against the escape
of the hosbiles," and to "insure against further hostilitles by completing
the destruction of the hostiles unless these terms are acceptad.” Capt,
Bourke, who lmew Croolr parhaps more intimately than anyone who has left a
vecord of him, descrlbed Crock's reaction to these instructions:

general CrooX . . . was unable To gee
how he couid allew Indians, or anybody else,
to epser his cesp vader assurances of personal
safety, and at the sane time "take every pre-
caubion against escape.” Unless he treacher-
ously mmrdered them in cold blocod, he was
unable ko see a way oub of the dllemma; and
Creook was not the man o lie bo_gny one or
deal treachorously by him . . .
The escape of G(Geronimo and Nachez maturalily aggravated the conflict

between the two generals., Sheridan, when he learned the news, sarcastic-

ally telegraphed Crook that it seered sbrange that the renegades could

27. Bourke, On the Border with Crook, pp. 153484,




have escaped withoub the knowledge of the Apache scouts, Stung by the
implication of Gisloyalty among his scouts, Crool replied that "There
can be no question that the scouts were thoroughly loyel, and would have
prevented the hostiles leaving had 1% been possible,’ Sheridan answered
this dispatch by stating, rather petulantly, that there now seered no
other recourse tuan to concentrabe troops ab key points end provect the
settlers. "You have in your departaient forty-six companies of infantry
and forty companies of cavalry,” he declared, “and ought to be abie to

do a good Geal with such a forea,”

He ended by directing Crook to submlb
a plan for future oncratisns,

Relations petwzen the two officers had now reached such 8 state that,
to Crool:, there seened but one possible course of acticn, On April 1, he
submitted to Sheridan a lucid explanation of the philosophy that had guided
his nllitary and diplomaiic dealings with the Apaches, and concluded by
asserting his beliefl that "the pian upon which I have conducted operations
$s the one nost likely to prove successful la the end. t may be, however,
that I am too rch wedded to my own views in this matter, a1¢ as I have
spent nearly eight years of the hardest work ia ry 1ife in this department,

I respectfully requect tha®t I may now be relieved from its comaand,

27, Bourke, Oan the Border with Crook, pp. 483,48k,




Sheridan lost no time in complying with Crook's request. The next day he
1ssued orders directing Brig. Gen. Nelson A, Miles to relieve Crook of the
command of the Duparfnent of Arlzona.

On the day that Gen. Miles received nails orcers, Chihuahua and the
Chiricahuas who had refuseé to go with Geronimo and MNachez arrived at Fort
Bowile under escort of Lk, Faison. Crook could not bring himself to tell
these Indians that his promise had been officially disavoweG and, five
days later, he loaded thea on a train at Bowie Shation for transportation
to Fort Marion, Florida. On April 12, Gen. HMiles arrived at Dowie Station
and went immediately to Foré Bowie. Croolk, newly assigned to the Depart-
ment of the Platibe, turned over his command to kiles and left Fert Bowle
A9
and Arizons for the last time,”

With 5,000 soldiers at his conmand, 'iles now faced tiie task of catch-
ing and subduing Geronimo and Nachez, with fifteen warriors and nineteen
women and children, a2ll tlat resained of the hostile arvay tihat had left

the reservation a year previously.

iiles in Commnnd

Sheridan's instructions to :Hiles were couched in general terms, While
exércising great care to prevent the spread of hostilibies, Wlles was to
conduct vigorous operatlons almed at destroying ov capturing the renegades

in Mexico. Only in the wsatbter of placing relisnce on native scouts did

23, Report of the Secrebary of War, 1336, p. 15%. Schmitt, General
George Crook, pp. 265-250.




Sheridan get specific, considering it advisable "to suggest the necessity
of making sctive and prominent use of the reguler troops of your command, "27
Miles approached his task with gharacteristic energy. His fipst step
was to strengthen the system of border outposts, which had never affectively
nrevented hostile forays Jnto the United Statas, The high mountains, bright
sunlight, and clecar atncaphere of the Southwest offered ideal conditions for
puploying the heliograph. Using this devlce, which consisted of mirrors
aounted on a tripod, skilled operators could catch the sun's rags and flash
messages over distancas as great as twenly-Tive or thirty mites. Dividing
his department into districts of observation, [iles covered southern Ari-
zona and Wew Foxico with a network of heliograph stations. In all, there
were bwenty-seven stations connection practically all of the high peaks
of the region., One such station was located on Bowie Teak, above Fort
Bowie. Linked with five other stations, the Bowle Peak hellograph during
the summer of 1056 sent 8C2 messages and repeated 1,0L4--more than any
other station in the system. In each district of obgervation, Niles
positioned well-equipped moblle columns ready to ingercept any marauvcing

.
Indians sighted by the observers at the heliograph stations.)b

29. TReport of the Secretary of War, LUGO, pp. 72-73.

30, Hiles, Personal Recollactions, pp. HUl-lioH.
» B
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Satisfied that his defenses were in order, Miles turned his attention
to planning an offensive. At Fort Huachuca he found an officer and a doctor
who believed, &8 he and Sheridan did, thet white sgoldiers could =aten fae
Apaches in cunning and fortltude. To Capt, Heury u. Lawton and Asting As-
sistant Surgeon Leonard Wood, iiles therefore assigned the responsibility
of forming an el<fe striking column of speclally chosen men, Lawyton as-
sembled his command at Fort Huachwen early in fay, 1086, It consisted of
one cowpany of infantry, thirty-five cavalryuen, end tuwenty Indian scouts,

. >
A pack train of 100 mules and thirty paclers provided daily supply.

While Lauvton wes sbtill organizing his coluumn, the Chiricahuas selzed
the initiative and testzd [Miles! new defense systen. [Lete in Aprll they
rovaged settlements in Sonora and then swepbt rorth up the Sznte Cruz Valley

s .

of Arizona, Willing whltes and stealing stocli, A troop of the Tenth Cavalry

under Capt., T, C, Lebo trailed the raicers for 200 wmiies and finaily, on

May 3, brought them to bay in the Pinito Hountoins about Thirdy miles sout
of the border. ATter a brisi sngagenent, in wnich Lebo lost one nan killed
and one wounded, the Indians broke contact and continued their flighv,
Other forces werc now in the area, and on Hay 15 Capt., C. A, P, Hatlielid

and a troop of the Pourth Cavalry surprised the hostile caup east cf Santa

fade

Cruz, Sonora, Although the inhablitants scatbered infto the mountains without

loss, Hatfield captured all of their camp equijags and aboul twenty horses,

31. Ibid,,p. 480, Hermann Hsgedorn, Leonard Wood, a_ Biography
(Yew York, 1951), Voil. I, p. 6i.




The Indians responded a few days later by arxbushing Hatfield's command in

.

a box canyon, They illed two soldiers, wounded two more, and recovered

4 . 52
all of their stock.”
By now, however, Lawton had taken the field and was soon folliowing the

hostile trail deep Into Soncra.

After the babtitle with Hatfield, the Indians divided. One band, under
Hachez, went north into Arizona and eveniuzlily reached the vicinity of Fort
Apache before turning back fo fexlco. The other headed west and was soon
being pursued by Capt. Lawbton's striking column. This command had lef%
Fort Huachuca on lay 5 and pushed into tne Yagul River country. The vol-
canic character of the mouwntain terrain culeuly broke down the cavalry
horses, and the ftroopers were forced to join the infantry.

For four months Lawbon's troops chased the renezades from one mountain
range to another., The 1,400 mile frelr through the wilds of Mexico set a
recoyrd for sustained operatioans under adverse conc‘.’l'i:10115.}3 1t woulid he
gifficult teo find in the annals of the U, S, Arny an instance in which
climate, terrain, and enemy conspired to demand greater endurance and per-
severance of nen than did Lewbon's campaign in FHexice. As Leopard vWood
later recalled the ordesal:

Ore who does not know this country camob
realize what this Kind of service means--marching

32, Report of the Secretary of War, 1835, p. 197.
P

3%, Por the details of the campeizn, see Lawton's Repori, Seps. 9,
1885, in ibid., pp. 176-181; and Capt. Leonard Yood!'s Narrative in Miles,
Personzl Recollections, pp. 506-517, agedorn, Leonard wood, pp. 67-103,
follous the expedition in detail, quoting freely from the dilary Wood kept.
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every day in the intense heat, the rocks and ezrth
being so torrid that the feat are bhlisbered and
rifle-harrels and everything metallic being so

ot that the hand cannot touch them without getting
burnt. L is a country rougn beyond description,
covered everywhere with cactus and full of rattle-
snaltes and ofher undesirable coumpanions of that
sort. The rain, wien it does coue, coaes as a
tropical teapest, btransforming the dry canons

Invo raging torrents in an instant , . . We had
no tents 2nd 1it%le or no baggage of any kind
except rations and camvniticn, Sulis of under-
ciothing formed our unifor: and :occasing covered
our foet -7

This arducus service left its merk on the nen. When iles Tirst soyw

them at the close of the campaign, he was shocked by thelr gaunt and haggard
appearance. Lawton had lost forty pounds, YWocd thirty. Althoush the en-
listed men had been hand-pickod, only one-third of those who had 1=ff Fort
Huachuea on May 5 were still in the ranks at the ond., The rest were re-
placements acded¢ during the moreh, Three sets of officers had served with

LR

the command, only Lawion and ¥Wood remaining witia 1t from beginming to end.
Lawton's cawpaign, for ail its demands on the participants, failed to
produce the spectacular resulis anbticipated. Only once &id the troops
corner thelr quarry, On July 14, aiter over two nontas of incessant trail-
ing, Lawten's Indiar scouts, commanded by LE, R. A. Brown, a Fort Bowle

officer, discovered the hostile camp 300 wiles below The border, &4s the

regulars moved into positlon for an attacik, the Apaches took ziarm: and fled

3%. Wood's Herrative in Kiles, Fersonal Recollections, p. 517,

[N
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into the mountains, leaving their camp and equipment to tne soldiers,

Despite his failure to engage the eneny, Lawton's relentless pursuiz

3

probably had the effect of wearing down and dishearbening the fugitives.

t any rate, when iileg! peace enissaries finzily succeeded in contacting
¥ ki

=

the hostiles, Geronine and lechez were Willing to surrender on terms that,
several months eariiasr, uwould have boen prooptly rejected. 0OF even more
influence in bringing about the final surrendoer, however, was the removal

L

of the ressrvatbicn Chiricahuss froa 3an Carlos to Fort derion, Floprida.

Ti» Seccnd Chiricahua Raroval

The question of moving the reservation Chiricahuas out of Arizona had
been under scricus consideration for some tlme. Vhen Gen, Sherlcdan visited
Port Bowie in Yoverbar, 1535, he had consulted Crook ané Capt. Crawford on
the advisability of such a move. DBoth officers opposed it, Crauferd in
particular arguing that it wewld have a bad effoct on the Chiricahua scouts
whom he was on the noint of leading nto texico, The proposal, therefore,
was temporarily Shelved.35 After [iles took command, he gquickly becaune
convinced that the sucecsss of operations in lekico depended in largo measure
on ridding his department of the San Carlos Chiricahuas, for fhere was al-
ways the chance that they would provide amaunition and recruits to their

kindred on the warnath. This conviction was reinforced in July, when illes

visited San Caprlos. Tie Chniricanuas, living near Fort fpachs, ilmpressed

. 1

him as a "turbulens, Cesperate, disvepubable band of humen beings, " and

-

35, Report of tie Secretary of War, 1808, »p. 7-<, Ti.

36, Ioid., pp. 14-15, 73-7i4, 170-171.
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someone %told him That they were at the very moment plotting an outbreak., He
thereupon sent a Gelegation of Chirleahuvas to lWashington to be persuaded
that removal from Aprizona was in the hest interests of the tribe., 7The dele-
gates refused (o he persuaded, and on thelr return trip #les Lhad them de-
talned at Fort Leaverwortn, A great deal of telegrapiiic correspondence
Tollowed betweon Miles ard his superlors in vashington, who consulted closely
with the President and officials of the Interior Department. PFlnally, ifiles
was authorized to send the Chiricahuas to Fort Harion, Florida.36
The feneral moved promptly. Four troops of cavalry arrived a2t Fort
Apache to reinforce the thrse troops of cavairy and twe companics of ln-
fantry that garrisoned tne post. August 29, 1889, was the day ehosen for
the coup. BSo great was iiles! anxiely that he left Fort Bowie and went to
the Willcox telegreph station, which was in divect contact with Fert Apache,
to awalt word of the oubtcome. AL Fort Apache, the commending officer, Lb.
Col, J. F. Yade, assembled the Chiricahuas under the ruse of a routine roll
call. WYhen the unsuspecting Indians had congregoted, YWada's troops swiftly
moved into position with such overpowerlng strength that resistance was
obviously futile, Three hundred and eighty-two Chiricshuas, Iinciuding vira-
tually all of the foermer scovis who had served Croouw in the exlean can-
paigns, were inmediztely marched to Holurooll and entrained¢ for Florida.

News of the suceessful caplture came as a great reilef (0 :illes, and he

36. Ipid., pp. 14-15, T3-7T4, 170-17L.
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returned S0 Fort Bowie and the problen of the Chirleshuzs still at large

r
-

-3

in Mexlco.
Hounded by Lawbton's column and a number of other commands, and tempted

vy offers to make peace, the hostlles were on tiie point of surrendering.

CoaGawood!s Misslon

After the rencgodes lost thelr camp to Lawbton on July 14, they eluded

pifted nortih towsrds Frontoras., [Miles had alreoady be-

[an

their pursuers and
come convinesd that the time was ripe Yo put out péace feelers, While ab
Fort Apache early in July, he had learned frow Kayitah, a warrior wno nad
recently desersed bthe reregades and returned to fhe reservation, that they
were tired of oublaw 1ifs snd might be persuaded to surrender if the right

i

men were sent to talk with them. [liles selected Kayitah and another in-

fluential Chiricahua, lartine, to act as emnissarics, To lead the party, he
38

chose Lt. Charles I. Gatewood, whom Guronimo knew and respected.

Gatewood znd the two Indisns hastened to Fort Bowie, outfitted, and
with: an interpreter, a packer, and & courier hcaded for Mexico. The group
net a muiper of cavalry patrols coperating in northern Sonora, bubt could
learn nothing of Geronimo's whareaboubs, Gatewood then decided to contact
Capt, Lawbton's command, which he found on the Aros River. As lauton did

not know where the hostile were either, (atewood put hinmselfl under the

37. Ibid., #iies, Personal Recollzctions, pi. boY-5G5,  Col, Uade
was the son of Senator Benjamin F. uade of Onlo,

38, Davis, Truth About Geronimo, pp. 220-223, Miles, Pzrsonal
Recolleckions, p. 500,




Captain’s orders, with the understanding that when circwstances permitied
he should be released to carry out his mission., Soon, news came that
Geroniio and Nachez were near Fronteras. With six zen fuvnished by Lawton,
fatewood hurried to Fronteras, Lawbton following. ther commands, including
two from Fort Dowie, had already converged on Fronteras, Obtaining tuwo
more interpretasrs from cone of these debachments, Gaftewood followed the trail
of two squaws who had visited rexican authorifies at Fronberas with peoace
overtures fron Goeronino,

Thrae deys Laber, Auvgust 24, 1305, in mountainous country broken by
a suceping bend of the Bavicpe River, Gatewooc carped in a cane-brake and
sent Kayitah and imrtinz ahead to Geronimols camp. Yhe two Indians entered
the hostile ranchoeria ond delivered iles! demend for surrender, buv Geronimo,
holding Kayitah hostage, sent imrtine back with word that only with Gatewood
would he and Hachez talk. Gatewood prompb.y set out to ameet Geronimo.
Shortly after his depertvre, Lawton's regulars arrived and made camp in
the cane-braie.

With only nls interprebers and iartine, Gatewovod entered The hostlile
canp, After ail the Indians had been seated, Geronino announced that they
were there to listen toglGen. NMNiles! wessagz., DBluntly Gatewood delivered
i1t; M"Survender, and yoﬁ will pe sent with your femilies %o Filorida, there
to await the decision of the President as to your final disposition, Accept
these terms or fight it out to the bitter end.” The hostiles soon made
apoarent their desive to surrender, but not on the teraus offered 5y Miles.

If they could go back to thelr neople at San Carlos, sald Geronimo, they



would make peace on the spob, After much discussion and argument, Geronimo,
with an a2ir of finelity, said, "Take us to the reservation--or fight." Here
Gatewood denlt an unexpected blow to the two chiefs, All of the Criricahuas,
he told them, were being removed from San Carios o Florida--even the mother
and daughter of Hachez, If the rensgades went back to the reservation,

they would be living alcne amld bands of Apaches hostile to the Chiricanuss.
This revelation sunt the Indians ins¢o & cane-brake for consultation. uwhen
they returned, Geronimo and Nachez asied many questicns about Gen, Klles--
his age, size, appearance, character, honesty, efe. Firally, as the day
drew to a closs, Geroni.ao said, "z want your advizce., Consider yourself

not a white men but one of us; remember all that has been sald vodey and

b Bpengi Genersl Miles and surrender to him,”

tell us what we shovld do.'
replied Gatewood with enphusis.

Geronimo prouised to hold a council tiabt nlght and give Gatewood his
ansvWer the next day. The Lieutenan? retwned to nis camp and, wita Lawion
and Voeod, anxiousliy awalted the outcome of the deliberations in the hostile
camp.

The next morning Geronilac and Nachez tolé Gatewood that they would
take their peoplz2 and surrender o Gen, .il2s, On the way, however, they
must be permiifted to keep thoir arus; Lawton's command aust go aleng o
protect them from other troops; and Gatewood must travel wilth the hostlles

and sleep in their camp. To these conditions Gatewood and Laewion asscnted,
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L courier was dispatched to Miles and the processlon started north

33

immediately.

The Surrender at Skeleton Canvon

Wihen Miles learncd of Geronimo's desire to confer with him personally,
he grew very reluctant, directing that instead the hostlles surrender o
Cept. Lawton. lLawbon sent several more messages meking 1t plain that
Geronimo insisted on tallidng with the General and with no one else, files
then demanded some evicence of good faith, and Geroniio sent his own brother
to Fort Bowie to act as hostage. Tals convinced Hlies. Accompanied by his
aide and a cavalry escort, he left Fort Bowle on Sepbember 2 and headed
south to meet the cavalcade of Apaches. On the next evening he reached
Lawton's canp at Skeleton Canyon, sixty-five miles southeast of Fart

Bowie.uo

39, Charles B. Gatewood, "The Surrender of Geronimo,” Arizona
Bistorical Review, Vol. IV, No. 1 (ipril, 1931}, pp. 34-44. Conflicting
versions of the nostile sursender 2re given vy Lawion in Report of the
Secretary of War, 1856, pp. 176-181; by Wood in Miles, Personal Recollectlons.
pp. *506-517; and by Miles in ibid,, pp. 512-325. It seems probable that
Miles deliberately minimized Getewood's role in the surrender. Lawton,

Miles! protege and an advocate of the use of regular troops agalnst the
hostiles, gobt most of the credit and a promotion tesides. He later rose

to the renk of brigadier general and was lkilled in the Fhillpplhes: 1.

18¢9. Gatewood, Crook's protege and an advocate of the use of Apache

secouts, received almest no recognitlon., Injured in a cynamite explosion,

he was retired on the half-pay of a flrst lleutenant., For Gatewood's case
see Davis, Truth About Geronimo, pp. 220-220; and Acton Mazzanovich, Trailing
Geronime, 3rd =d. THoIlywood, 1931), pp. 259-318. Official correspondence
covering the period of Miles! command is published in House Exacutive Docu-
ments, Y49th Cong., 2nd sess,, Mo, 1.7.

4o, miles, Persopal Recollections, pp. 519-H2C. Miles! astitude may
have been mobivabea in part by nis preocccupation with the impending removal
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Geronimo imiedistely appearsd and was introduced o iiles, The Apache
regarded the General for awhile, then turned to Lt. Gatewood and smiled.
"Good, you told the truth,” he said. Hiles repeafed to Geronimo the con-
ditions under which the hostilie surrender would be accepted. He explained
that the renegsdes would be taken, with their faailies, out of Arizona.
Thereafter, their fate would rest in the nands of the President, Geronimo
assented to thesz terms, and the next morning brought in his band and for-
mally surrendered, HNachez, however, was st111 in the mountains. He was
mourning his brother, wno had gone back into #exico in search of stray
horses and was thought to have been killed by liexicans. Gatewood, ac-
compenied by bwo interpreters and two scouts, went with Geronimo to lNachez's
camp and persuaded him to cone tn and talk bto iles. Neghez, too, was

pleased with the General and promptly surrendersd his band.Lpl

(cont.} of the reservation Chiricahuas to Floricda. At any rate, 1t
was apparently only after thess Indlans had been plzced under allitary
guard on Aug. 25 that he sevicusly censidered a personal interview with
the hostile leaders,

§1. (Qatewood, "Surrender of Gevonimo," pp. 42-43. ¥iles, Personal
Recollections, pp. 520-525, dlles makes no mention of Getewood's roie in
persuading hachez to surrender. According to niles, ne staged a demonstra-
£ion of the heliograph for Ceronimo. He sent a zessags on this instrument
to Geronimo's brother at Fort Bowle and recelved a proupt reply. Geroniao
was so impressed by the mysterious davlce that he sent ore of his warriors
to bring Machez in. Geronimo's version of the Skeleton Canyon conference
is given in S. i, Barret, ed., Geronimo's Story of hips Life (New Yorx,
1506), pp. 144147,
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Miles was anxious to return to Fort Bowie. Escorted by a troop of
davalry, he left Skeleton Canyon on the morning of September 5 and reached
the fort that night. When nearing the post, Geronlio looked at the Chliri-
cahua Mountains and renarked, "This is the fourth time I have surrendered.”
Miles replied, correctly as it turned out, "And I think it is the last
time you will ever have occasion to surrender.” Three days later Lawton
reached Fort Bowile with the rest of the Indiasns., #iles had glready thrown
a cordon of troops around the Bowle military reservation in order to protect
Geronime and Nachez from the civil authorities, and he was anxious to be
rid of hils charges for good. Soldiers speedily disarmed and Gismounted
the renegades. On scpteumber 8, 1886, the prisoners were all assesbled.
Escorted by Lawton's command, they left for Bowie Station to be loaded on
a train and sent ©to Florida. As the procession moved out of the post, the
regimental band of the Pourth Cavairy formed on the Fort Bowlie parade

ground and, with the strains of "Auld Lang Syne,” said farewell once and

bp
for all to Geroninmo,

b2, 1bid., p. 527.




EPILOGUE

Geronlmo and Haschez had surrencered, but the nation had by no means
heard the last of the Chiricahuas, HNeither had Gen. Miles. President
Cleveland, elated by the successful oubcone of the campalgn, wired Hiles
to hold the renegades at Forl Bowle until they could be turned over fo
civil authorities For criminal trial, filles was now in an ernbarrassing
position., He had to explain bo the Presldenv that, lile Crook, he had nov
ohtained unconditional surrender. Certain terms had been granted. lMore-
over, the prisoners were no longer at Fort Eowle but already specding to-
wards Florida. The President prouptly ordered them stopned and dziained
at San Antonic, Texas, while he tried to find out from MNiles exactly what
had been promised the Indiens in return for thelr surrender, Niles evaded
the issue and wrote wordy dispatches that sald little. After a month of
tiresome correspondence, the Presldent decided that the terms were such
that the renegades could not houorably be turned over to civil authorities
for trial. He therefore directed that they resuue thelir Journey to Florida.l

There were many aspects of the confinement of the Chiricahuzs in Florlda
that aroused the indignation of organizations dedlecated te securing justice
to the Indian. They pointed ocut that illes' zsctioca in taking the friendly
Chiricahuas from thelir mountain homes to wihealthy captivity In Florida was

bad enough. But to subject the men who had servad Crook loyally as scouts

1. Report of the Secretary of War, 1385, pp. 12-15, 144-146,
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to the same treatinent was worse yet. Ioreover, even Kayitah and Martine,
who at i#liles' behest had gone with (Gatevood to persuade Geronlwo fo sur-
render, had alse been sent to Florida., #iles had pronised Geronimo and

Nachez that they would be sent with thelr famill:s out of the Southwest.

Yet the warriors were conflined at Fort Pickens and the woien ang children
at Fort Marion. Finoily, removed from cheir natural habitst, the ipaches
began Gying in aiaraing mubers.

In Gern. Crook and Gen. 0., 0. Howard, who had made pedce with Cochise
in 1372, the friends of %he Indian found powerful mllies. Crook, especlally,
made many speeches, wrote pauphlsis, and balked witil congressasn and senafors
in an atteapt to cdramstize the plizht of the Chirleshuas and the injustice
done them. The campaign naturally aroused heatod opposition from Gen. Miles
and his supporters, and a violent conbtroversy raged thot abated only slishily
when Crook died in 1560, MNevertheless, largely 28 a result of the activi-
ties of Crook, Howa=d, and the Indisn Rights Associstion, the men at Forb
Pickens were united with theilr families in 1007. A year later they wers
sel.t to Mount Vernon Barracls, Alabzas, and Jjeined the rest of the Chiri-
eahues, who had already been moved 50 this more healthful location., At
last, 1n 1834 the entire tribe was moved, over the vigorous ohjections of
tiles and the western press, to Fort Siil, Oklahoma. Here Ceronimo dled
on Pevruary 17, 1909, In 1913, 187 Chiricahuas were peraitted to transfer

to the Mescalero Roservation in Now fzxico. The rest chose vo remain at
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Fort Sill, where the remnant of the btribe lives todav.z

Geroniao and Hachez were not the last of the renegade ieaders to sur-
render. angas, with two men and elght women 2nd children, hod separated
from Geronimo in August, 1886, and was thercfore not present at the Ikele-
ton Canyon wmeeting. In early Cctober, 13886, these Indians stole a herd
of mules from & ranca in Chihuahuva menaged by Britton Davis, who had re-
signed from the Avmy afber Crook's first campalgn of 1505, Davis tele-
graphed Miles at Fort Apzche of the poute the Indians were faking. :iles
dispatehed a troop of the Tenth Cavairy under Capt. Churies L., Cooper o
head them off., Cooper caphtured Ifngas and took him and his neoplie to Fort
Apache, from which they were quickly shipped to Florida to join their
brethren.3

Tha suprender of Geroniio, for all practicai purposes, ended tiwe
Apache wars and, excepl for the Sioux oubbveak of 189G, the Indian wars
of the Wost. Mo longer were the frontler forts to piay a significant
role in wesbtern nistcry. .any of them, In fact, were avandonsd witnin a

decade. Fort Bowie was no exception. It had outlived its usefulness and

2. A good resume of the controversy over the Chiricshua prisoners
is given in Schmitt, CGenera: Ceorge Crook, po. 20%-300, The conmplete
detatls of the dispuie, bugebher with pertinent correspondence covering
the surrender, were nublished in Senate Ixecutive Decunents, LGth Coung.,
2nd sess., No, 117. Sees also Hzrbert Helsh, The finache Prisconsrs at
Fort “Brion, St, Aujustire, Fiorida {Indian Rights fissociation, 1947).
Report of The Oomiiss-omner of Ineian Affairs, 1313, p. 343 19014, »p.
50-57.

3. Davis, Truth About Geronlao, pp. 231-.232, Report of the Secre-
tary of War, 1808, p. iF; 1007, . 153,




its remalning years were largely anbiclimactic. The garrison devoted 1t~
self to romding up 2 few Apaches who occasionally strayecd from 5Sa2n Carios
and in investigating reports of Indian depredations. In 1837, 1835, and
1359, Gen. filles and hls successor, 0ol. B, H. Grierson, conducicd maneu~-
vers deslgned to give the troops in the Department of Arizona continuing
field experience. For the men at Fort Bowie, the mock wars relicved tine
tedium of gerrison 1ife, Under Brig. Gen. Alexander HeCook, who replaced
Grierson, the sdncuvers ware omit%ed.LL

Fort Bowie would probably have been abolished several years earlier
than 1t was had not severai gnall gangs of Apache outlaws taien refuge in
the rugged meunbains of southeastern Arizona. Notable among the renegades
was the Apache Kid, whow patrols from Fort Bowie sought without success
for six years. These patrols scseumed to have little restraining effect on
the activities of the outlaws, and in 1693 Gen. lieCook concluded that
Fort Bowie, too, cugnt to be abandcned. Although his recommendations were
favorably recsived at the War Department, the heated opposition of Arizona
citlzens ané officials put off the final decision for a year. Cn October 17,
1894, however, Troops B and L, Second Cavalry, evacuated the fort and marched

out of Apache Pass. The uilltary reservadlon was turned over to the Inberior

A

Department and the land auctioned of'ff to ranchers.

resion set in, and before long the post

%, ucray, History cf Fort Bowie, pp. 259-200. ifiles, Personal
Recollections, pp. D37-4%. e

5. Murray, History of Fort Pouie, po. 260-302,
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had fallen into ruins. These ruins today stand as a monument to the Emert-
can soldler who for over twenty years endured the hardships and dangers of
campaigns that rank awong the most arduous in nilitary history. ut the
rulns also stand as a monument to the Chiricehua Apache Indlan, HWith his
unigue blend of fighiing qualilies and unsurpassed masvery of gueriila
tactics, he successfully defended his homeland zgainst Spaniarcs, Hexlcans,

and Americans for two centuries. And in the end he succunbed only when

his own klndred woere ..obllized against him.
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Photo No. 1

Yort Bowie in 1885, Looking south with Bowle Mountain in the

background.

Tentative identification of bulldings based on plan on Plate 5.

& Orficers Cusrbers

-]
1

7 - Taller Shep

8 - Cavalry Barracks

10 -~ Cuvalyy Barracks

11 - Wash House

i3 - Qranary

14 - Subsistence Storehouse
15 - Cld Hospltal

16 - Telegyaph Office

i
18
19
20
21

22

25

Ad utant's Offlce

Corrals

Infantry Parineks

Litchen

Butcher Shepn

Quartermaster Storehouse
Commanding Offizers Quarters
Guard House

Bakery

Photo taken by Lt. Charles B. Catewood - 1885
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Phicto No, 2

Fort Bowie in 1935. View approximately the seme &2 In Photc o, 1.
Loolting scutheast with lower slopes of Bowie Mounta lr. showing in
upper right corner, The ruins today are much the sime.

Tentative ‘denbificstion of ruins based on plan Plate 5,

1 - Offlcers Quarters 15
3 - Officers Quarters 13
6 - Officers Quarters 2

B - Barrvacks - Cav. 25

10 - Barracks - Cav. 25
11 - Wash House 28
i3 - Granary 31
14 - Subsiztence Sicrepouse 35
3k

35

Photo by George Grant - 1935

- 01d Hospital
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- Commend.ng Officers Quarters
- {uard House

- Bakery

- iess Halil

-~ Hospital

- Hospital Sftewards Quarters
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Ehoto Mo. 3 - Panerzme of Fort Bowle and vicinity leoking stuth.
Rough ingdlcation of proposed boundariea shown.
Arnoerger, 1957.

Fhoto Ho. 4 - Panarama of Fort Bowle and vieinity looking west
and showing rough Indicstion of propuszed boundarles.
hrnberger, 1957,




Photo No. 5 - Looklng east from the fori. San Simon Valley
in the middie distance. Tne mountains in the
background are in New Mexico. The Butteriieli
Stage came through this valley to Apache rass.
Arnberger, 1957,

Photo No. 6 - Ruins of cavalry barracks. View ix of the
interior fuce of the west wall,
Helen's Lome is in the background,
Arnberger, 1957.







Photo No. 7 - Standing wall of the Hospital Stewards Quarters
showing typlecal construction. Stone foundation,
adobe walls and exterior plaster.

MeColm and Benson in photo.
Arnberger, 1957.




Photo No. 8 - Substantial walls remaining from a building
believed to be the Post Tragders,
Arnberger, 1957.

Photo No. 9 - Walis of the old corrais. The hill in the
bactground is Jjust north of and ismelilately
adjacent to the fort, It 1s on private land
and was excluded from the area proposed in
1939, Tnls report recomuends acquisiticn
of the property.

Arnberger, 14%57.







Photo No. 10 - Lew adobe walis are 21l that remagin
£ the first fort built in 1862, Left
to pight Mesers, Benscn, Scolt, Melolm,
Welker, Bowen and Reed.
Arnperger, 1957.

Photo No, 11 - Spring lcsated just west of the fort cuned
by Mr. A. L. Stansberry and showing present
use, Tnis 1s the spring which served the
Bubterfield Stags Siation and figured so
prominently in the early history of Apache
Pass.

Arnberger, 1957,







Photo No. 12 - Reservoir located above the fort on the

lower slopes of Bowle Mountain showlng rock
construction and plaster finish.

Photo by Hugh #M. Miller, 1953.
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